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NO SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY HAS EXPRESSED AN OPINION ABOUT THESE 

SECURITIES AND IT IS AN OFFENCE TO CLAIM OTHERWISE. 

 

The securities offered hereby have not been, and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 

1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United 

States of America or to a U.S. Person (as defined in regulations promulgated under the 1933 Act) except in 

transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the 1933 Act. 

 

 

PROSPECTUS 
 

New Issue October 10, 2012 

 

FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
 

3,225,318 UNITS (EACH UNIT CONSISTING OF ONE COMMON SHARE AND ONE COMMON 

SHARE PURCHASE WARRANT) ALL ISSUABLE UPON THE EXERCISE OF 3,225,318 SPECIAL 

WARRANTS 

 

This prospectus is being filed to qualify the distribution in the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and 

Ontario of a total of 3,225,318 units (the “Units”), each Unit consisting of one common share (“Unit 

Share”) and one common share purchase warrant (“Unit Warrant”), of Fortify Resources Inc. (the 

“Company”) issuable to the holders of 3,225,318 previously issued special warrants of the Company (the 

“Special Warrants”), upon the exercise or deemed exercise by such holders of their right to acquire, 

without additional payment, one Unit for each Special Warrant held by them.  See “Plan of Distribution”. 

 

Each Special Warrant may be exchanged by the holder thereof (the “Holder”) for one Unit at any time 

until the first to occur of: (i) the business day following the date (“Qualification Date”) on which a receipt 

for a (final) prospectus has been issued by or on behalf of the last of the securities regulatory authorities 

in the Province of British Columbia and such other jurisdictions as may be determined by the Company 

qualifying the distribution of the Units to be issued upon exercise of the Special Warrants (the issuance of 

such receipt being hereinafter referred to as the “Qualification”); and (ii) the tenth (10
th
) anniversary of 

the date of the Special Warrant certificates (“Exchange Date”). 

 

Any Special Warrants not exercised prior to 4:00 pm (Vancouver time) on the Exchange Date shall be 

deemed to have been exercised immediately prior to that time without any further action on the part of the 

holder. 

 

The Special Warrants were issued pursuant to subscription agreements between the Company and each of 

the subscribers as follows. 

 
Number of 

Special Warrants 

Price to 

Subscribers  

($) 

(1) 
Proceeds to 

the Company  

($) 

400,000 

1,783,651 

1,041,667 

0.05 

0.06 

0.12 

20,000 

107,020 

125,000 

3,225,318  $252,020 

(1) Before deduction of the remaining expenses of this prospectus estimated at $40,000  

 

In the event that Special Warrants are exercised prior to the Qualification Date, or the Qualification Date 

does not occur, the underlying Units obtained upon such exercise will be subject to resale restrictions.  
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See “Plan of Distribution.” 

 

The prices of the Special Warrants (the “Issue Price”) were determined by negotiations between the 

Company and the subscribers. 

 

There is no market through which the Special Warrants, the Units or Unit Shares acquired upon the 

exercise of the Special Warrants may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell the Unit Shares, 

Unit Warrants or Shares acquired upon exercise of the Unit Warrants. 

 

An investment in the Special Warrants or the Units underlying the Special Warrants is speculative 

and involves a high degree of risk.  An investment in these securities should only be made by 

persons who can afford the total loss of their investment.  See “Risk Factors”. 

 

Unless otherwise indicated, all currency amounts herein are stated in Canadian Dollars. 

 

An application has been made to list the Company’s common shares, including the Unit Shares issuable 

on the exercise of the Unit Warrants, on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (“CNSX”).  Listing is 

subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CNSX, which include becoming a 

reporting issuer. 

 

There is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to 

resell securities purchased under this prospectus.  This may affect the pricing of the securities in the 

secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the securities, 

and the extent of issuer regulation.  See “Risk Factors”. 

 

No underwriter has been involved in the preparation of this prospectus or performed any review or 

independent due diligence of the contents of this prospectus. 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 

applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its 

securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the 

United States of America other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or 

the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc. 

 

In this Prospectus, “the “Company” “us”, “we”, and “our” all refer to Fortify Resources Inc. 

 

FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
1210 - 1066 West Hastings Street 

Vancouver, BC V6E 3X1 

Tel: 604-668-5820 

Fax: 778-373-8759 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

 

Author means Carl A. von Einsiedel, P.Geo., of Vancouver, BC. 

 

BCMEM means the British Columbia Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum 

Resources. 

 

Exchange or CNSX means the Canadian National Stock Exchange. 

 

Fortify Property or the Property means the two adjoining mineral tenures comprising 436.80 hectares that 

cover a northwest oriented, staircase shaped block of ground located on 

the north side of the Iskut River in northwestern British Columbia. 

 

FS Shares  means the founders’ shares issued by us at a price of $0.005 per Share. 

 

Holder means the owner of a Special Warrant, FS Share, Unit, Unit Share, Unit 

Warrant or Share. 

 

Issue Price means the purchase price paid by a subscriber for a Special Warrant. 

 

Report or Technical Report means the report entitled “Review of Technical Information and 

Proposed Exploration Program for the Sericite East Property dated 

December 31, 2011, as prepared by the Author. 

 

Special Warrants 

 

means the special warrants issued by us at $0.05, $0.06 and $0.12 per 

Special Warrant, each of which is convertible into one Unit. 

 

Shares or Unit Share means the common shares without par value in our authorized share 

structure. 

 

Units means one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant. 

 

Unit Warrant 

 

means transferable common share purchase warrants issued by us, as to 

2,183,651 warrants, each warrant entitling the holder to purchase one 

additional Share at $0.15 per Share and as to 1,041,667 warrants, each 

warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additional Share at a price 

of $0.25 per Share and all exercisable for two years from the 

Qualification Date. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 
 

The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with the 

more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

 

Principal Business of the Company 

 

We were incorporated on May 31, 2011 for the purpose of acquiring, exploring and, if warranted, developing 

mineral natural resource properties in British Columbia.  We presently hold a 100% interest in the Property located 

in the Iskut River District of northwestern British Columbia.  Our objective is to explore and develop the Property.  

See “Narrative Description of the Business” for details of the exploration work proposed for the Property. 

 

The Special Warrant Offerings 

 

We previously carried out private placements whereby we issued a total of 3,225,318 Special Warrants.  The private 

placements were completed pursuant to prospectus and registration exemptions under applicable securities 

legislation as follows: 

 

Number of 

Special Warrants 

Price to 

Subscribers ($) 

(1) 
Proceeds to 

the Company ($) 

400,000 

1,783,651 

1,041,667 

0.05 

0.06 

0.12 

20,000 

107,020 

125,000 

3,225,318  $252,020 

(1) Before deduction of the remaining expenses of this prospectus estimated at $40,000.  

 
The 3,225,318 Special Warrants may be exercised at any time until the Exchange Date without any additional 

payment or consideration for one Unit consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant.  Any Special Warrants 

not exercised prior to 4:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the Exchange Date shall be deemed to have been exercised 

immediately prior to that time without any further action on the part of the holder. 

 

The prices of $0.05, $0.06 and $0.12 per Special Warrant paid by the Holders are substantially higher than the price 

of $0.005 paid for the founders’ FS Shares.  As a result, purchasers of Special Warrants experienced immediate 

dilution.  This dilution is due in large part to the fact that the founders’ FS Shares were issued at a substantially 

lower price than the $0.05, $0.06 and $0.12 per Special Warrant paid by purchasers of the Special Warrants. 

 

On the Exchange Date, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, all Special Warrants will be deemed to be 

exercised on behalf of the Holders.  In the event that Special Warrants are exercised prior to the Qualification Date 

or Qualification does not occur, the underlying Units obtained upon such exercise may be subject to resale 

restrictions of the province(s) in respect of which such securities commission has not issued a final receipt.  See 

“Details of the Issue” and “Plan of Distribution.” 

 

USE OF PROCEEDS 
 
As at the date of this Prospectus we had received $252,020 from the sale of the Special Warrants, and $6,501 from 

the sale of FS Shares for a total of $258,521.  As at our most recent month end (being August 31, 2012), we had an 

estimated working capital of $163,343 which we intend to use, in order of priority, as follows: 

 

 

 Description Amount ($) 

1. To pay the estimated remaining expenses of this prospectus (including legal, audit and 

printing expenses) 

40,000 

2. To pay balance of CNSX Listing Fee 8,000 

3. To pay for the proposed Stage 1 exploration program expenditures on the Property (see 55,000 
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 Description Amount ($) 

“Recommendations” under the heading “General Description of the Business” for 

details) 

4. Estimated ongoing legal, accounting, auditing, stock exchange, transfer agent and filing 

fees for nine months 

20,000 

5. Estimated administration, rent, telephone, internet, travel, office expenses for nine 

months 

31,000 

6. To unallocated working capital 9,343 

 Total: 163,343 

 

We do not generate cash flows from our operations and will be reliant on future financings for our cash needs. 

There is no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining the required financing or that such financing will be 

available on terms acceptable to us.  Any future financing may also be dilutive to our existing shareholders. 

 

We intend to spend the funds available to us as stated in this Prospectus.  There may be circumstances, however, 

where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. 

 

Risk Factors 

 We have been only recently incorporated, have not commenced commercial operations and have no assets 

other than cash and our Property. 

 There is no market at this time through which our securities may be sold.  Even if a market develops, there 

is no assurance that the price paid by our shareholders for their shares will reflect the market price if and 

when a market has developed. 

 There are certain “going concern” risks associated with our business, meaning that we may not be able to 

realize our assets and discharge our liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.   

 

 We do not generate cash flows from our operations and will be reliant on future financings for our cash 

needs. There is no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining the required financing or that such 

financing will be available on terms acceptable to us.  Any future financing may also be dilutive to our 

existing shareholders. 

 

 Certain of our directors and officers are, and may continue to be, involved in the mining and mineral 

exploration industry through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships or joint 

ventures which are our potential competitors and situations may arise in connection with potential 

acquisitions or opportunities where the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict with our 

interests. 

 

 An investment in our securities should be considered highly speculative due to the nature of our business 

and our stage of development and should be considered only by investors who can afford the total loss of 

their investment. 

 

 The offer or sale of founder or seed shares at any price (some of which were purchased for as little as 

$0.005 per share) may cause a significant adverse effect on the market price of our shares. 

 

 We have no history of earnings and to date have not defined any commercial quantities of mineral reserves 

on the Property. 

 

 We and our assets may become subject to uninsurable risks. 

 

 Our activities may require permits or licenses which may not be granted. 

 

 We compete with other companies with greater financial resources and technical facilities. 
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 We may be affected by political, economic, environmental and regulatory risks beyond our control. 

 

 We are currently largely dependent on the performance of our directors and officers and there is no 

assurance we can retain their services. 

 

 In recent years, both metal prices and publicly traded securities prices have fluctuated widely. 

 

 First Nation rights may be claimed on Crown properties or other types of tenure with respect to which 

mining rights have been conferred.  We are not aware of any First Nation land claims having been asserted 

or any legal actions relating to native issues having been instituted with respect to any of the minerals 

claims in which we have an interest. 

 

See “Risk Factors” for details of these and other risks relating to our business. 

 

Summary of Financial Information 

 

The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in our financial 

statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus.  We have established February 29 as our fiscal 

year end. 

 

  

 

Unaudited 

Three Month Period 

Ended May 31, 2012 

Audited 

For the period from 

May 31, 2011 (date of 

incorporation) to 

February 29, 2012 

Revenues 

Net (loss) 

Basic and diluted loss per share 

Total assets 

Long term financial liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders’ Equity 

    Number of Common shares 

      (deficit) 

Cash dividends per share 

Nil 

$(24,210) 

- 

$247,975 

Nil 

$51,424 

$196,551 

1,300,001 

$(87,970) 

Nil 

Nil 

$(63,760) 

- 

$253,409 

Nil 

$32,648 

$220,761 

1,300,001 

$(63,760) 

Nil 

 
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial Statements”. 

 
 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
 
Name, Address and Incorporation 

 

We were incorporated under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on May 31, 2011 under the name 

Fortify Resources Inc.  Our head office is located at 1210-1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 3X1, and 

our registered and records office is located at Suite 700 – 625 Howe Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 2T5. 

 

Intercorporate Relationships 

 

We have no subsidiaries. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
We were incorporated to engage in the business of mineral exploration in the province of British Columbia.  Our 
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objective is to locate and develop economic mineral properties of merit.  We own a 100% interest in one material 

property, being the “Fortify Property”.  See “Property Description and Location” for details.  We also intend to 

investigate, and if deemed advisable, to acquire, explore and develop other properties with mineral-bearing potential 

in British Columbia and elsewhere. 

 

Mineral Project 

 

We commissioned and received an independent technical report on the Property in accordance with National 

Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”).  The Author of the Technical Report 

is an independent "Qualified Person” by definition of NI 43-101.  At the request of the Company, the Author visited 

the Property on July 16, 2011. 

 

The following information and figures were taken from the Report.  The Report has been filed on the SEDAR 

website at www.sedar.com.  A copy of the Report is being held at the records office of the Company, at Suite 700 – 

625 Howe Street, Vancouver, BC, where it may be examined during normal business hours.  The following 

information has been revised in respect to certain references. 

 

Summary 

 

Fortify Resources Inc. (the “Company”) holds a 100% interest in the Sericite East Property (“the Property”) located 

in the Iskut River District, north western B.C. approximately 90 kilometers north of the community of Stewart.  The 

Property was acquired by staking after a technical review of several potential projects in the Iskut District.  At the 

request of the Company the author (“Author”) visited the property on July 16, 2011 and has prepared a Technical 

Report on the Property (“the Report”) to the standards required by National Instrument 43-101 and Form 43-101F1 

Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Properties. 

 

The Iskut River District forms part of northwest B.C.’s Golden Horseshoe and has been a focus for gold and copper 

exploration since the discovery of the Snip and Eskay Creek deposits in the mid 1980’s.  Exploration work by 

various previous owners including Western Canadian Mining Corp. in the late 1980’s identified multiple target areas 

in the general area of the Property that have undergone limited follow-up work. Figure 1 and 2 are regional scale 

maps showing the location of the Property relative to the mineral claims, access roads, mines and advanced 

exploration prospects within northwest B.C.’s Golden Horseshoe.  The Property is considered an early stage 

exploration prospect that has potential to host both porphyry type copper – gold mineralization and vein type gold 

mineralization. 

 

The Property comprises a rectangular shaped block of ground approximately 2 kilometers long and 1.5 kilometers 

wide (436.80 ha.) that straddles the west fork of Snippaker Creek approximately 12 kilometers south of the Iskut 

River.  There are no existing access roads and the only way to access the Property is by helicopter from the 

government maintained airstrip at Bob Quin on Highway 37 approximately 45 kilometers to the east or from the 

Bronson airstrip (air access only) located on the south side of the Iskut River approximately 10 kilometers to the 

west. 

 

Previous work done by Western Canadian Mining Corp. on the former Gossan Property identified several 

mineralized areas including an area referred to as the Sericite East prospect.  According to the B.C. Minfile database 

the area surrounding the Sericite East prospect is underlain by Triassic and younger intrusive rocks with a lessor 

amount of Triassic to Jurassic aged sediments and volcanics belonging to the Stuhini and Hazelton groups.  In the 

Iskut River District these assemblages are the host rocks for alkalic type copper-gold porphyry occurrences (ie. the 

Bronson Slope porphyry deposit located 15 kilometers to the west) and for structurally controlled gold 

mineralization (ie. SNIP deposit located 18 kilometers to the west).  

 

According to the B.C. Minfile database the Sericite East Prospect comprises an east-west trending, hematite and 

limonite stained interbedded volcaniclastic unit up to 20 meters in thickness which exhibits anomalous gold, silver 

and copper values. Geological maps prepared by Western Canadian Mining indicate that there are several favourable 

rock unit intermittently exposed over a strike length of approximately 500 meters.  Limited rock chip sampling 

within the volcaniclastic units (approximately 10 samples) reported by Western Canadian Mining returned moderate 

gold contents (peak value of 450 ppb (0.45 g/ton) gold) and anomalous concentrations of other elements 

http://www.sedar.com/
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(Butterworth, 1987).  The highest values reported were a grab sample from an intensely sericitized volcanic rock 

with disseminated pyrite and chalcopyrite which assayed 450 ppb (0.45 g/t) gold, 9.9 g/t silver and 0.83% copper.  

The Property owned by the Company straddles the boundary of the former Gossan Property and covers potential 

extensions of the Sericite East Zone.  In 1987 Western Canadian Mining Corp. completed a geochemical survey to 

test for potential extensions of the zone to the east. 

 

According to Butterworth, 1987, soil sampling completed by Western Canadian Mining over the Sericite East grid 

generally yielded a number of isolated, erratically distributed gold, silver and copper anomalies.  In one area 

however, a group of highly anomalous copper (up to 1552 ppm) and moderately anomalous gold and silver values 

produced a northeast trending anomalous zone centred at L4+00E 2+00S (Note: this grid co-ordinate is located 

approximately 200 meters to the west of the western boundary of the Property).  As the dominant structural trend 

throughout the area is 005° to 020° the anomaly may represent a mineralized shear zone in the underlying intrusive.  

The Author of this Report did not visit the Sericite East prospect during the Property examination, has been 

unable to verify the foregoing information and this information is not necessarily indicative of the 

mineralization on the Property. 
 

The technical data available on the B.C. Minfile database and the technical data published by Western Canadian 

Mining Corp. indicate that the Property covers significant soil geochemical anomalies that are open to the east and 

northeast within the current Property boundaries.  The adjoining Property which covers the western part of the 

Sericite East prospect has been maintained in good standing continuously since 1987 and is currently owned by 

Imperial Metals Corp. Anomalous gold values in soil samples ranging from 136 ppb to 350 ppb straddle the western 

boundary of the current Property and there are no published reports of any follow up work completed by other 

operators on the Sericite East prospect.  

 

The anomalous gold values reported by Western Canadian Mining within and immediately adjacent to the Property 

may reflect buried vein type or porphyry type copper – gold mineralization.  Based on the Author’s review of the 

historic technical data the Property is considered a promising, early stage prospect with potential to host vein type 

and porphyry copper type mineralization.  In the Author’s opinion the Property is of sufficient merit to warrant 

additional exploration. 

 

It is recommended that the next stage of exploration work (Stage 1) on the Property consist of additional detailed 

soil sampling in the western and central part of the Property and additional reconnaissance work to assess the target 

areas identified by Western Canadian Mining Corp.  The total estimated cost of the proposed Stage 1 program is 

$55,000.  In the event that significant gold and copper geochemical anomalies are identified in Stage 1, a follow up 

program of detailed geological mapping, trenching and rock sampling (Stage 2) would be warranted at a cost of 

$140,000. 

 

Introduction and Terms of Reference  

 

The Author was retained by the Board of Directors of the Company to review historic technical reports related to the 

Property, design and supervise a preliminary exploration program to verify the historic data and if warranted, outline 

recommendations for a follow-up exploration program.  The Company intends to utilize this technical report in 

support of an application to the CNSX Exchange for a listing of its Shares.  

 

This Report was prepared in accordance with National Instrument 43-101.  The Qualified Person who is the Author 

of this Report has supervised various exploration projects in the Province of British Columbia.  The Author visited 

the Property on July 16, 2011 by helicopter from the government maintained airstrip at Bob Quin on Highway 37.  

The scope of the personal inspection of the Property was to confirm there are areas suitable for helicopter assisted 

operations within the planned target areas.  The Author conducted an online title search on June 20, 2012 to verify 

that all of the mineral claims that comprise the Property are in good standing with the B.C. Ministry of Energy and 

Mines. 

 

Reliance on Other Experts 

 

The Author has prepared this Report based on information which is believed to be accurate but which is not 

guaranteed.  The available technical data for the Property consists of regional geological information compiled by 
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the B.C. Ministry of Energy and Mines and documentation regarding field investigations completed within the 

project area by various previous operators including Western Canadian Mining Corp. Sources are listed in the 

References section of this Report and are cited where appropriate in the body of the Report.  The technical reports 

listed in the References section of this Report appear to have been completed by professional geologists without any 

promotional or misleading intent and the Author has no reason to doubt the accuracy or completeness of the 

contained information.  

 

To the best of the Author’s knowledge at the time of writing of this Report, the Property is free of any liens or 

pending legal actions and is not subject to any underlying royalties, back-in rights, payments or other encumbrances 

other than as disclosed in section 6 of this Report.  To the best of the Author’s knowledge, there are no known 

existing environmental liabilities to which the property is subject, other than the requirement to mitigate any 

environmental impact on the claims that may arise in the course of normal exploration work and the requirement to 

remove any camps constructed on the Property or any equipment used in exploration of the claims in the event that 

exploration work is terminated. 

 

Property Description and Location 

 

The Iskut River area is situated in north western British Columbia approximately 90 km north of the town of Stewart 

and 55 kilometres southwest of the Stewart Cassiar Highway. The Property is situated south of Iskut River near the 

west fork of Snippaker Creek. The claims are in the Liard Mining Division, NTS 104B/10, and are centred at 

latitude 56° 35' north and longitude 130° 53' west.  

 

The Company holds a 100% interest in two adjoining mineral tenures comprising 436.80 ha. The claims which 

comprise the Property were staked pursuant to the B.C. Ministry of Energy and Mines MTO system (Mineral Titles 

Online System).  The earliest expiry date of the claim package is October 30, 2012. The location of the Property 

relative to other mining claims, local communities, parks and access roads is shown in Figure 1.  The individual 

claim tenure numbers are shown in Figure 4. 

 

The Property comprises a rectangular shaped block of ground approximately 2 kilometers long and 1.5 kilometers 

wide (436.80 ha.) that straddles the west fork of Snippaker Creek approximately 12 kilometers south of the Iskut 

River.  There are no existing access roads and the only way to access the Property is by helicopter from the 

government maintained airstrip at Bob Quin on Highway 37 approximately 45 kilometers to the east or from the 

Bronson airstrip (air access only) located on the south side of the Iskut River approximately 10 kilometers to the 

west. 

 

The mineral cell title claim statistics are summarized in Table 1; note that this claim information is not a legal title 

opinion but is a compilation of claims data based on the Author’s review of the government of the British Columbia 

Mineral Rights inquiry website (B.C. Mineral Titles June 20, 2012).  The mineral claims do not have to be legally 

surveyed since they are B.C. Government established cell claims.  

 

Table 1.  List of mineral tenures 

 

Sericite East Property 

 

Tenure No. Registered Owner Area (in ha.) Expiry Date 

889451  Fortify Resources Inc. 365.50  October 30, 2012 

938504  Fortify Resources Inc.   71.30  December 21, 2012 

 

The Property is owned 100% by the Company and is not subject to any royalties, back in rights, payments or other 

agreements.  Prior to July 1, 2012 BC Ministry of Mines regulations required that title to the claims be maintained 

through the performance of annual assessment work filings and payment of required fees.  For the first three years 

after a claim was staked a minimum of $4.00 per hectare in eligible exploration and development expenditures 

needed to be incurred.  In subsequent years, a total of $8.00 per hectare in eligible exploration expenses needed to be 

incurred.  Effective July 1, 2012 new regulations came into effect that changed the requirements from a 2-tier 

system to a 4-tier and have significantly increased the minimum eligible exploration expenditures that are required 

to maintain mineral tenures in good standing.  Under the new regulations all mineral tenures are deemed to be in 
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their first anniversary year and the new minimum exploration expenditures will be $5.00 per hectare for anniversary 

years 1 and 2, $10.00 per hectare for anniversary years 3 and 4;  $15.00 per hectare for anniversary years 5 and 6 

and $20.00 per hectare for each subsequent anniversary year. 

 

Prior to July 1, 2012 holders of mineral tenures had the option of making payments equivalent to the minimum 

exploration and development expenditures (referred to as PIED) required to the Ministry of Mines instead of 

incurring the required expenditures.  Under the old regulations a minimum of one day and a maximum of one year 

of PIED could be applied to mineral tenures. Under the regulations which come into effect July 1, 2012 the holders 

of mineral tenures will still have the option of making payments instead of exploration and development work 

however, the new PIED rate will be set at double the value of the minimum exploration and development 

expenditures required.  In addition to the changes in the PIED rate tenure holders who elect to make payments 

instead of incurring expenditures will need to pay for a minimum of 6 months which under the new regulations will 

be equivalent to the minimum expenditures for an entire year.  Similar to the assessment work requirements, if a 

recorded holder wishes to register PIED, the claim will also be treated as if it is in its first anniversary year for the 

purpose of calculating the assessment requirement, as of the date of implementation (July 1, 2012). 

 

For the Sericite East Property the Company will have the option of extending the expiry date of the claim for a 

period of up to 2 years by paying a total of $2,184.00 for each 6 month period required.  To the best of the Author’s 

knowledge, government permits are not required to carry out the proposed Stage 1 Program but will be required to 

carry out the proposed Stage 2 exploration program and for any follow up diamond drilling program recommended 

after completion of this program.  These programs will require application to the Ministry of Energy and Mines for 

permits and the Company may be required to post security equivalent to the estimated costs of any reclamation work 

which will be required after completion of the proposed exploration work.  To the best of the Author’s knowledge, 

approval from local First Nations communities may also be required to carry out the proposed Stage 2 exploration 

program.  The reader is cautioned that there is no guarantee that the Company will be able to obtain approval from 

local First Nations.  However, the Author is not aware of any problems encountered by other junior mining 

companies in obtaining approval to carry out similar programs in nearby areas nor is the Author aware of any 

instances where local First Nations communities have objected to exploration work in the general project area. 

 

To the best of the Author’s knowledge, the surface rights to the Property are currently held by the Province of 

British Columbia.  In the event that a significant mineralized zone is identified, an application that includes detailed 

environmental impact studies must be made to the B.C. Land Title and Survey Authority (LTSA) for surface rights 

prior to initiation of any advanced exploration or mining activities.  The reader is cautioned that there is no 

guarantee that areas for potential mine waste disposal, heap leach pads, or areas for processing plants will be 

available within the subject Property.  

 

Access, Physiography, Infrastructure 

 

The claims are situated within the Boundary Ranges of the Coast Mountains. This geographic province consists of a 

mountainous and glaciated terrain. Tree-line varies from 1000-1200 metres above sea level and is marked by a thick, 

intertwined growth of one to two metre tall stunted spruce. Below this point, particularity within the lower valleys, 

vegetation predominantly consists of a dense growth of coniferous forest and slide alder. Active glaciation is 

prevalent in the district, these occur as caps over areas of higher elevation, notably above 1500 metres, and have 

impressive valley glaciers.  

 

As noted above access to the Property is only by helicopter.  Overall relief is 880 meters, from 780 meters a.s.l. at 

the base of the valley in the western part of the Property to 1,580 meters a.s.l. in the eastern part of the Property.  

Vegetation is alpine to sub-alpine at elevations above 1,200 m.  The main work area within the Property is located in 

the west central part of the claim area as shown in Figure 7.  

 

There are abundant water sources within and adjacent to the Property.  At present there are no power sources 

available at the Property however it may be technically feasible at some point in the future to construct an access 

road from the Iskut River. No engineering studies have been undertaken to determine costs or potential 

environmental impacts.   
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Although no detailed assessment has been undertaken to determine if there are areas within the Property that could 

be used for tailings and or waste disposal the physiography of the central parts of the west central part of the 

Property may be permissible for such uses.  The reader is cautioned that there is no guarantee that areas for potential 

mine waste disposal, heap leach pads, or areas for processing plants will be available within the Property. 

 

History 

 

Interest in the Iskut River area dates back to 1907 when gold, silver, and base metal mineralization was discovered 

near Johnny Mountain (approx. 15 km west of the Property) by the Iskut Mining Company. Only limited 

information is available covering subsequent activities until 1954-61, when Hudson's Bay Mining and Smelting 

carried out drilling programmes in the same area. Since then the district has been explored for base and precious 

metals at both regional and property scales by various mining companies, including Skyline Explorations Ltd., 

Cominco Ltd ., Silver Standard Mines Ltd., Texasgulf Inc., Great Plains Development, Teck Corporation and 

Dupont Canada Ltd.   

 

In 1983 Lonestar Resources Ltd. commissioned Active Mineral Exploration Ltd. to carry out a reconnaissance 

geological mapping and geochemical sampling programme on the former Gossan Mineral Claims (Bending, 1983).  

A number of the properties were optioned to Brinco Mining Ltd. in 1985 and subsequently transferred to Western 

Canadian Mining Corp. In 1986 exploration was continued in the immediate area of the Gossan mineral claims, 

notably by Skyline Explorations Ltd. and by Cominco Ltd. In 1987 Western Canadian Mining Corporation 

conducted an exploration programme consisting of geological mapping, soil and rock chip sampling. 

 

The most relevant historic exploration work is a soil geochemical survey completed by Western Canadian Mining 

that straddles the western boundary of the current property.  According to Butterworth, 1987, soil sampling 

completed by Western Canadian Mining over the Sericite East grid generally yielded a number of isolated, 

erratically distributed gold, silver and copper anomalies.  In one area however, a group of highly anomalous copper 

(up to 1552 ppm) and moderately anomalous gold and silver values produced a northeast trending anomalous zone 

centred at L4+00E 2+00S (Note: this grid co-ordinate is located approximately 200 meters to the west of the western 

boundary of the Property).  As the dominant structural trend throughout the area is 0050 to 020° the anomaly may 

represent a mineralized shear zone in the underlying intrusive. 

 

Based on the Author’s review of the technical data available on the B.C. Minfile database and the technical data 

published by Western Canadian Mining Corp. the Property covers significant soil geochemical anomalies that are 

open to the east and northeast within the current property boundaries.  The adjoining Property which covers the 

western part of the Sericite East prospect has been held continuously since 1987 and is currently owned by Imperial 

Metals Corp. Anomalous gold values ranging from 136 ppb to 350 ppb straddle the western boundary of the current 

Property and there are no published reports of any follow up work completed by other operators in the area of the 

Sericite East prospect. 

 

The Author of this report has been unable to verify the foregoing information and this information is not 

necessarily indicative of the mineralization on the Property. 

 

Regional Geology and Mineralization 

 

The regional geology in the Iskut River areas has been mapped by Kerr (1948) and recently by Grove (1986). The 

Property lies at the eastern edge of the Coast Plutonic Complex, near the western boundary of the Bowser basin. The 

claims are at the northern end of the belt of rocks described by Grove (1971) as the Stewart Complex. The complex 

consists of an undivided group of sedimentary and volcanic rocks of Upper Triassic and Jurassic age, which are 

intruded by Middle Mesozoic marginal phases of the Coast Range intrusions. The stratified rocks are composed of 

submarine to sub-aerial fragmental volcanic rocks that are interlayered with sequences of argillite, banded siltstone, 

greywacke, conglomerate and minor impure limestone, most of which are believed correlative with the lower 

Jurassic Hazelton Group. Structurally, rock units have a general northwest trend and have locally, been regionally 

metamorphosed to the greenschist facies and strongly deformed. According to Grove (1979) the Iskut River marks a 

major east-west trending thrust fault that has resulted in Paleozoic strata being pushed southerly across Mesozoic 

units. Numerous north to northeasterly trending faults and fractures offset units throughout the region. The 

stratigraphy is intruded by subvolcanic intrusive and by mid to late Mesozoic and Cenozoic plutonic rocks. These 
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include stocks and dykes of granodiorite, quartz monzonite and feldspar porphyry, as well as late Tertiary dykes and 

plugs of basalt and diorite. 

 

Previous work done by Western Canadian Mining Corp. on the former Gossan Property identified several 

mineralized areas including an area referred to as the Sericite East prospect.  According to the B.C. Minfile database 

the area surrounding the Sericite East prospect is underlain by Triassic and younger intrusive rocks with a lessor 

amount of Triassic to Jurassic aged sediments and volcanics belonging to the Stuhini and Hazelton groups.  In the 

Iskut River District these assemblages are the host rocks for alkalic type copper-gold porphyry occurrences (ie. the 

Bronson Slope porphyry deposit located 15 kilometers to the west) and for structurally controlled gold 

mineralization (ie. SNIP deposit located 18 kilometers to the west).  

 

According to the B.C. Minfile database the Sericite East Prospect comprises an east-west trending, hematite and 

limonite stained interbedded volcaniclastic unit up to 20 meters in thickness which exhibits anomalous gold, silver 

and copper values.  An intensely sericitized volcanic rock with disseminated pyrite and chalcopyrite assayed 0.45 g/t 

gold, 9.9 g/t silver and 0.83% copper.   The Property owned by the Company straddles the boundary of the former 

Gossan Property and covers potential extensions of the Sericite East Zone.  In 1987 Western Canadian Mining Corp. 

completed a geochemical survey to test for potential extensions of the zone to the east.   

 

Property Geology 

 

According to Butterworth, 1990 the area which hosts the Sericite East prospect is underlain by quartz monzonite and 

related hypabyssal rocks and lesser amounts of andesite tuffs, greywackes and siltstones. Schists and phyllites 

derived from felsic to intermediate volcanic and volcaniclastic rocks overlie most of the intrusive body. Geological 

mapping of the former Gossan property in 1987 was concentrated on the east slope of Sericite Ridge and to a lesser 

degree, along the southern end of Sericite Ridge. Pale to medium green, medium grained monzonite to quartz 

monzonites intrusive rocks crop out in many of the creek beds draining the east slope of Sericite Ridge. A 

penetrative foliation in and around major structural features generally varies between 005° and 020° with 28° to 76° 

dips. Several dykes of varying composition, related to both the monzonites pluton and a later dyke forming event, 

occupy fractures in the intrusive and in the overlying volcano/sedimentary unit.  

 

Geological maps prepared by Western Canadian Mining indicate that there are several favourable rock unit 

intermittently exposed over a strike length of approximately 500 meters.  Limited rock chip sampling within the 

volcaniclastic units (approximately 10 samples) reported by Western Canadian Mining returned moderate gold 

contents (peak value of 450 ppb (0.45 g/ton) gold) and anomalous concentrations of other elements (Butterworth, 

1987).   A grab sample collected from an intensely sericitized felsic volcaniclastic rock (Sample G87-R- 527) with 

up to 3% disseminated pyrite and intense pervasive iron oxide staining had the highest gold content, 450 ppb. 

However, the great majority of similar rocks in the area did not contain more than 50 ppb gold. Sample 087R-060, 

representing a quartz stockwork infilling a sheared zone in laminated siltstone contained anomalous gold, silver, 

copper, lead, and zinc values of 395 ppb, 16.8 ppm, 3,148 ppm, 252 ppm, and 637 ppm, respectively.  The Author 

of this Report did not visit the Sericite East Prospect during the Property examination, has been unable to 

verify the foregoing information and this information is not necessarily indicative of the mineralization on the 

Property. 
 

Rock samples from the Sericite East area represent coarse grained plutonic and hypabyssal intrusive rocks that have 

intruded and intensely altered a sequence of interbedded volcaniclastics and siltstones. The volcaniclastic sequence 

is commonly intensely altered to sericite and locally chlorite and epidote. Siltstone in close proximity to intrusive 

rocks shows pervasive silicification and biotization. Alteration of both the volcaniclastic and sedimentary succession 

has yielded impressive colour anomalies) however, precious metals concentrations are quite low. 

 

Soil sampling over the Sericite East grid generally yielded a number of isolated, erratically distributed gold, silver 

and copper anomalies. In one area however, a group of highly anomalous copper (up to 1552 ppm) and moderately 

anomalous gold and silver values produced a northeast trending anomalous zone centred at L4+00E 2+00S. As the 

dominant structural trend throughout the area is 0050 to 020° the anomaly may represent a mineralized shear zone in 

the underlying intrusive. 
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Deposit Types 

 

Snip-Type gold deposits 

 

Mineralization in structurally controlled Au and polymetallic veins is epigenetic and is formed by structurally 

focused hydrothermal fluids. These types of deposits are normally associated with regional faults, fault sets and 

fractures; however, veins are typically associated with second order structures. Veins typically occur in the central 

parts of discrete shear zones within a larger regional fault, where the rotational or simple shear strains predominate. 

Vein systems are tabular, sub vertical structures of varying thickness and lateral extent. 

 

Alkalic and calc-alkaline porphyry copper-gold deposits 

 

Alkalic and calc-alkaline porphyry copper-gold deposits occur throughout the length of the Intermontane Belt in 

both Stikinia (Golden Horseshoe) and Quesnellia (north-western and central B.C.). These deposits occur either 

within Triassic aged intrusive rocks or in volcanic and sedimentary rocks associated with the intrusive bodies.  

These types of deposits are common in the Iskut River District, comprising over 25% of the reported mineral 

occurrences.  These types of deposits tend to occupy brecciated and faulted zones related to extensively altered 

subvolcanic intrusions and their volcanic host rocks. Alteration patterns for alkalic type porphyry deposits are 

distinctly different from those of classic calcalkaline deposits, which are characterized by concentric phyllic-argillic-

propylitic zones.  The alkalic deposits typically have a central potassic or sodic plagioclase zone, which passes 

outward into a propylitic zone. These often overlap and are overprinted by retrograde metasomatic alteration.  

Disseminated pyrite and minor copper mineralization mantle the propylitic alteration zone. 

 

Exploration 

 

No exploration work has been carried out on the Property by the Company.  The Author visited the Property on July 

16, 2011 by helicopter from the government maintained airstrip at Bob Quin on Highway 37.    The scope of the 

personal inspection of the Property was to confirm the presence of the gossan zone reported by Western Canadian 

Mining Corp. and to confirm there are areas suitable for helicopter assisted operations within the planned target 

areas identified.   

The locations of the historic geochemical samples collected by Western Canadian Mining Corp. in 1987 are shown 

in Figure 5 through 7. The base maps are 1:50,000 scale topographic maps available from the B.C. Ministry of 

Mines.   The Author of this Report has been unable to verify the foregoing information and this information is 

not necessarily indicative of the mineralization on the Property. 
 

Drilling 

 

No diamond drilling was carried out by the Company on the Property.  According to published technical reports no 

previous operators have completed any drilling within the current Property. 

 

Sample Preparation, Analysis and Security 

 

The soil samples collected as part of the 1987 exploration program completed by Western Canadian Mining Corp. 

were collected using conventional soil augers and trenching tools.  Sampling was completed along 100 meter spaced 

north-south traverse lines that crossed the potential extensions (to the east) of the Sericite East prospect. 

 

The -80 micrometer mesh sieved fraction of the soil samples was dissolved in an aqua regia solution (3:1 mixture of 

hydrochloric and nitric acid) and analyzed for the series of elements listed in the ACME Laboratories assay reports.  

The elements analyzed for and the detection limits are listed in the assay reports.  ACME Laboratories employs 

standard QA and QC protocols on all sample analyses including inserting one blank, reference standard and 

duplicate analysis in every twenty samples analyzed.  No additional QA and QC procedures were implemented as 

part of the program.  Sample Certificates from the 1987 exploration program are included in the report prepared by 

Butterworth.  In the Author’s opinion, the sample security employed by the field personnel involved in the sample 

collection and the sample preparation and analytical procedures employed by ACME Laboratories were adequate for 

the exploration program carried out by Western Canadian Mining on the former Gossan Property. 

 



 

 

12 

Data Verification 

 

As noted, the main areas of interest within the Property are soil geochemical anomalies located on the west side of 

west fork of Snippaker Creek. 

 

Verification sampling to confirm historic gold and copper in soil anomalies identified by Western Canadian Mining 

Corp. will be the main priority of the proposed Stage 1 program. 

 

Mineral Processing and Metallurgical Testing 

 

No mineral processing or metallurgical testing has been carried out on samples from the Property. 

 

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimate 

 

No defined body of potentially commercial mineralization has been identified to date on the Property and therefore 

no resource or mineral reserve estimate has been completed. 

 

Adjacent Properties 

 

According to the B.C. Minfile the Sericite East Prospect comprises an east-west trending, highly hematite and 

limonite stained interbedded volcaniclastic unit up to 20 meters in thickness which exhibits anomalous gold, silver 

and copper values.  An intensely sericitized volcanic rock with disseminated pyrite and chalcopyrite assayed 0.45 g/t 

gold, 9.9 g/t silver and 0.83% copper.   The Property owned by the Company straddles the boundary of the former 

Gossan Property and covers potential extensions of the Sericite East Zone.  In 1987 Western Canadian Mining Corp. 

completed a geochemical survey to test for potential extensions of the zone to the east.   

 

According to Butterworth, 1987, soil sampling completed by Western Canadian Mining over the Sericite East grid 

generally yielded a number of isolated, erratically distributed gold, silver and copper anomalies.  In one area 

however, a group of highly anomalous copper (up to 1552 ppm) and moderately anomalous gold and silver values 

produced a northeast trending anomalous zone centred at L4+00E 2+00S (Note: this grid co-ordinate is located 

approximately 200 meters to the west of the western boundary of the Property).  As the dominant structural trend 

throughout the area is 0050 to 020° the anomaly may represent a mineralized shear zone in the underlying intrusive. 

 

Based on the Author’s review of the technical data available on the B.C. Minfile database and the technical data 

published by Western Canadian Mining Corp. the Property covers significant soil geochemical anomalies that are 

open to the east and northeast within the current property boundaries.  The adjoining Property which covers the 

western part of the Sericite East prospect has been held continuously since 1987 and is currently owned by Imperial 

Metals Corp. Anomalous gold values ranging from 136 ppb to 350 ppb straddle the western boundary of the current 

property and there are no published reports of any follow up work completed by other operators in the area of the 

Sericite East prospect.  The Author of this Report has been unable to verify the foregoing information and this 

information is not necessarily indicative of the mineralization on the Property. 

 

Other Relevant Data and Information 

 

There is no other relevant data or information available for the Property.  There is no additional information or 

explanation necessary to make the technical report understandable and not misleading. 

 

Interpretation and Conclusions 

 

Previous work done by Western Canadian Mining Corp. on the former Gossan Property identified several 

mineralized areas including an area referred to as the Sericite East prospect.  According to the B.C. Minfile database 

the area surrounding the Sericite East prospect is underlain by Triassic and younger intrusive rocks with a lessor 

amount of Triassic to Jurassic aged sediments and volcanics belonging to the Stuhini and Hazelton groups.  In the 

Iskut River District these assemblages are the host rocks for alkalic type copper-gold porphyry occurrences (ie. the 

Bronson Slope porphyry deposit located 15 kilometers to the west) and for structurally controlled gold 

mineralization (ie. SNIP deposit located 18 kilometers to the west).  
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According to the B.C. Minfile database the Sericite East Prospect comprises an east-west trending, hematite and 

limonite stained interbedded volcaniclastic unit up to 20 meters in thickness which exhibits anomalous gold, silver 

and copper values.  Geological maps prepared by Western Canadian Mining indicate that there are several 

favourable rock units intermittently exposed over a strike length of approximately 500 meters.  Limited rock chip 

sampling within the volcaniclastic units (approximately 10 samples) reported by Western Canadian Mining returned 

moderate gold contents (peak value of 450 ppb (0.45 g/ton) gold) and anomalous concentrations of other elements 

(Butterworth, 1987).  The highest values reported were a grab sample from an intensely sericitized volcanic rock 

with disseminated pyrite and chalcopyrite which assayed 450 ppb (0.45 g/t) gold, 9.9 g/t silver and 0.83% copper.   

The Property owned by the Company straddles the boundary of the former Gossan Property and covers potential 

extensions of the Sericite East Zone.  In 1987 Western Canadian Mining Corp. completed a geochemical survey to 

test for potential extensions of the zone to the east.   

 

According to Butterworth, 1987, soil sampling completed by Western Canadian Mining over the Sericite East grid 

generally yielded a number of isolated, erratically distributed gold, silver and copper anomalies.  In one area 

however, a group of highly anomalous copper (up to 1552 ppm) and moderately anomalous gold and silver values 

produced a northeast trending anomalous zone centred at L4+00E 2+00S (Note: this grid co-ordinate is located 

approximately 200 meters to the west of the western boundary of the Property).  As the dominant structural trend 

throughout the area is 005° to 020° the anomaly may represent a mineralized shear zone in the underlying intrusive.  

The Author of this Report did not visit the Sericite East Prospect during the Property examination, has been 

unable to verify the foregoing information and this information is not necessarily indicative of the 

mineralization on the Property. 
 

The technical data available on the B.C. Minfile database and the technical data published by Western Canadian 

Mining Corp. indicates that the Property covers significant soil geochemical anomalies that are open to the east and 

northeast within the current Property boundaries.  The adjoining Property which covers the western part of the 

Sericite East prospect has been maintained in good standing continuously since 1987 and is currently owned by 

Imperial Metals Corp. Anomalous gold values in soil samples ranging from 136 ppb to 350 ppb straddle the western 

boundary of the current Property and there are no published reports of any follow up work completed by other 

operators in the area of the Sericite East prospect.  

 

The anomalous gold values reported by Western Canadian Mining within and immediately adjacent to the Property 

may reflect buried vein type or porphyry type copper – gold mineralization. 

 

Recommendations 

 

Based on the Author’s review of the historic technical data the Property is considered a promising, early stage 

prospect with potential to host vein type and porphyry copper type mineralization.  In the Author’s opinion the 

Property is of sufficient merit to warrant additional exploration. 

 

It is recommended that the next stage of exploration work (Stage 1) at the Property consist of additional detailed soil 

sampling in the western and central part of the Property to assess the target areas identified by Western Canadian 

Mining Corp.  The total estimated cost of the proposed Stage 1 program is $55,000.  In the event that significant 

gold and copper geochemical anomalies are identified in Stage 1, a follow up program of detailed geological 

mapping, trenching and rock sampling (Stage 2) would be warranted at a cost of $140,000. 

 

Proposed Stage 1 Exploration Program 

Engineering and project supervision, reports    $    7,500 

Field costs, vehicle rentals, helicopter        12,500 

Crew travel expenses, accommodation          5,000 

Reconnaissance soil surveys  

-soil sample collection for 200 samples        20,000 

-soil sample assays            5,000 

Contingency             5,000 

Total estimated cost of Stage 1     $  55,000 
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Proposed Stage 2 Exploration Program 

Engineering, permitting and project supervision, reports  $  25,000 

Field costs, vehicle rentals, accommodation        25,000 

Geological mapping, supervision of trenching program      75,000 

-collection of fill-in soil samples as required (including 

provisions for up to $15,000 in helicopter costs) 

Contingency @ 10%          15,000 

Total estimated cost of Stage 2     $140,000 
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USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 
 

Available Funds and Principal Purposes 

 

As this Prospectus is a non-offering prospectus, none of our securities will be sold pursuant to it.  We have received 

a total of $258,520 on the sale of the FS Shares and Special Warrants.  See “Prior Sales”. 

 

From the date of incorporation to August 31, 2012 we have expended a total of $95,177 including management 

services of $20,000, filing and professional fees of $50,044, rent of $7,000, property acquisition and report writing 

expenses of $17,450 and general and administrative costs of $680. 

 

We had $163,343 in working capital as at August 31, 2012.  We intend to spend these funds in order of priority, as 

follows: 

 

 

Pay remaining costs associated with this prospectus (including legal, accounting and 

printing costs) and the costs of a proposed listing on the CNSX 

         $ 34,118 

Complete the Stage 1 exploration program on the  Property
1
                55,000 

Estimated general and administrative expenses for 12 months
2
                 70,000 

Provide general working capital to fund ongoing operations and maintain properties in good 

standing, including further exploration of the Property, and for future acquisitions  

 

       4,225 

Total            $   163,343        

 

1. See “Recommendations – Proposed Stage 1 Exploration Program” above for details. 

2. General and Administrative expenses for the 12 months following August 31, 2012 are summarized below: 

 

Transfer agent and regulatory fees $                  7,000 

Management fees   12,000 

Office and equipment   12,000 

Facilities (rent, parking, utilities) 6,000 

Legal   6,000 

Accounting and audit expense 15,000 

Investor relations     6,000 

Travel, meals and entertainment     6,000 

Total $             70,000 

 

 

Our working capital available to fund ongoing operations will be sufficient to meet our Stage 1 exploration 

expenditures and administrative costs for at least 12 months but is insufficient to pay for the entire Stage 2 

exploration program. We intend to spend the funds available as stated in this Prospectus.  We do not generate cash 

flows from our operations and will be reliant on future financings for our cash needs. There is no assurance that we 

will be successful in obtaining the required financing or that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to 

us.  Any future financing may also be dilutive to our existing shareholders. 

 

There may be circumstances, however, where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary.  

There is no guarantee the recommended exploration program will be successful or that the results will warrant any 

further work on the Property.  In such event, unallocated working capital will be used to identify and acquire other 

opportunities. 

 

Business Objectives and Milestone 

 

Using our current working capital, our business objective is to carry out detailed soil sampling in the western and 

central part of the Property to assess the target areas identified by Western Canadian Mining Corp. 
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In order to accomplish our business objectives, we intend to carry out the Stage 1 program.  The estimated field time 

allowance for Stage 1 is one month, allowing for concurrent activities.  We intend that the Stage 1 program will be 

completed in the fall of 2012.  Additional work on the Property will be contingent upon successful results being 

obtained from Stage 1 work, and the availability of funds. 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
The following management discussion and analysis is as of the date of this prospectus. 

 

Overall Performance 

 

During the period from incorporation on May 31, 2011 to May 31, 2012, the Company raised a total of $258,521 

pursuant to a number of rounds of financings. On June 22, 2011, the Company raised $6,500 through a founder 

share financing. From July 5, 2011 to October 13, 2011, the Company raised total proceeds of $252,000 in three 

special warrant subscription rounds. 

 

During this period, the Company acquired a 100% ownership in the Property being two (2) adjoining mineral 

tenures comprising 436.80 ha. located in the Iskut River District, northwestern British Columbia approximately 90 

kilometers north of the community of Stewart. The claims which comprise the Property were staked pursuant to the 

B.C. Ministry of Energy and Mines MTO system (Mineral Titles Online System). The earliest expiry date of the 

claim package is October 31, 2012.  The Company completed an NI 43-101 report on the Property and plans to 

pursue the exploration program outlined in the report. 

 

The breakdown of the material components of exploration assets are as follows: 

 

Type of Costs 

Sericite East Property 

$ 

Acquisition costs 6,822 

Site visit, staking, and technical reports 10,628 

Total 17,450 

 

 

Trends 

 

The Company does not know of any trends, commitments, events, or uncertainty that are expected to have a material 

effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, or results of operations other than as disclosed herein under 

“Risk Factors.” 

 

  

 

Unaudited 

Three Month Period 

Ended May 31, 2012 

Audited 

For the period from 

May 31, 2011 (date of 

incorporation) to 

February 29, 2012 

Revenues 

Net (loss) 

Basic and diluted loss per share 

Total assets 

Long term financial liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders’ Equity 

    Number of Common shares 

      (deficit) 

Cash dividends per share 

Nil 

$(24,210) 

- 

$247,975 

Nil 

$51,424 

$196,551 

1,300,001 

$(87,970) 

Nil 

Nil 

$(63,760) 

- 

$253,409 

Nil 

$32,648 

$220,761 

1,300,001 

$(63,760) 

Nil 
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Results of Operations 

 

From The Three Months Ended May 31, 2012 

 

During the three months ended May 31, 2012, the Company did not earn any revenues, and incurred operating 

expenses of $24,210 comprised of $22,666 of professional fees relating to accounting, audit, and legal expenses 

incurred with the Company’s prospectus requirements, $1,500 for rent, and $44 in office and general expenditures.   

 

For the period ended May 31, 2012, the Company incurred a net loss of $24,210 and a loss per share of nil. 

 

From May 31, 2011 (date of incorporation) to February 29, 2012 

 

During the period from May 31, 2011 (date of incorporation) to February 29, 2012, the Company did not earn any 

revenues and incurred operating expenses of $63,760 comprised of $46,000 in management fees to the former 

President, CEO, and Director of the Company, $13,149 in professional fees relating to accounting, audit, and legal 

fees incurred with the Company’s prospectus requirements, $611 in office and general expenditures, and $4,000 of 

rent expense.  For amounts paid as management fees, see “Executive Compensation” and “Management and 

Consulting Agreements”.   

 

As at May 31, 2012, the Company has a net working capital of $179,101.  During the period ended May 31, 2012, 

the cash used by the Company for operating activities was $44 which is due to the fact that the Company made 

minimal payments for expenses incurred. 

 

Liquidity 

 

May 31, 2012 

 

As at May 31, 2012, the Company had total assets of $247,975 comprised of cash of $228,608, amounts receivable 

of $1,917 relating to HST refunds, and exploration and evaluation assets of $17,450 relating to acquisition and 

exploration costs relating to the Company’s properties.  Conversely, the Company had total liabilities of $51,424 

comprised of accounts payable and accrued liabilities for unpaid general expenditures. 

 

The Company has a net working capital of $179,101 and did not issue any new debt or equity instruments during the 

period.   

 

As at August 31, 2012, the date of the amended and updated Technical Report, we had a net working capital of 

$163,343.  Part of this amount, $70,000, is expected to be spent on general and administrative expenses for 12 

months following August 31, 2012, as summarized below: 

 

Transfer agent and regulatory fees $                  7,000 

Management fees   12,000 

Office and equipment   12,000 

Facilities (rent, parking, utilities) 6,000 

Legal   6,000 

Accounting and audit expense 15,000 

Investor relations     6,000 

Travel, meals and entertainment     6,000 

Total $             70,000 

 

 

February 29, 2012 

 

As at February 29, 2012, the Company had total assets of $253,409 comprised of cash of $228,652, amounts 

receivable of $1,707 relating to HST refunds, prepaid expenses of $5,600 relating to prepaid professional fees, and 

$17,450 of exploration and evaluation assets relating to acquisition and costs related to the preparation of the Report 

on the Property.   
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As at February 29, 2012, the Company has a net working capital of $203,311.  During the period from May 31, 2011 

(date of inception) to February 29, 2012, the Company used $12,419 of cash for operating activities related to start-

up costs and professional fees related to the initial preparation of the prospectus, incurred $17,450 of cash for the 

acquisition and costs related to the preparation of the Report on the Property, and received proceeds from financing 

activities through the issuance of the following the equity instruments: 

 

 On May 31, 2011, the Company issued one FS Share at $1 per FS Share for proceeds of $1. 

 

 On June 22, 2011, the Company issued 1,300,000 FS Shares for proceeds of $6,500 to the sole Director of 

the Company.  

 

 On February 9, 2012, the sole Director of the Company transferred 1,300,001 FS Shares to two new 

directors of the Company.   

 

 On July 5, 2011, the Company issued 400,000 Special Warrants at $0.05 per special warrant for total 

proceeds of $20,000, with each Special Warrant entitling the holder to acquire, without payment of any 

consideration in addition to that paid for the special warrants, one previously unissued Unit, each Unit 

consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant with an exercise price of $0.15.  Each Unit Warrant 

exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date. 

 

 On July 22, 2011, the Company issued 296,000 Special Warrants at $0.06 per special warrant for total 

proceeds of $17,760, with each Special Warrant entitling the holder to acquire, without payment of any 

consideration in addition to that paid for the special warrants, one previously unissued Unit, each Unit 

consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant with an exercise price of $0.15. Each Unit Warrant is 

exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date. 

 

 On August 8, 2011, the Company issued 296,000 Special Warrants at $0.06 per special warrant for total 

proceeds of $17,760, with each special warrant entitling the holder to acquire, without payment of any 

consideration in addition to that paid for the special warrants, one previously unissued Unit, each unit 

consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant with an exercise price of $0.15.  Each Unit Warrant is 

exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date. 

 

 On September 26, 2011, the Company issued 1,191,651 Special Warrants at $0.06 per special warrant for 

total proceeds of $71,500, with each special warrant entitling the holder to acquire, without payment of any 

consideration in addition to that paid for the special warrants, one previously unissued Unit, each unit 

consisting of one Unit Share and one common Unit Warrant with an exercise price of $0.15. Each Unit 

Warrant is exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date. 

 

 On October 13, 2011, the Company issued 1,041,667 Special Warrants at $0.12 per special warrant for total 

proceeds of $125,000, with each special warrant entitling the holder to acquire, without payment of any 

consideration in addition to that paid for the special warrants, one previously unissued Unit, each unit 

consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant with an exercise price of $0.25.  Each Unit Warrant is 

exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date.  

 

Readers are cautioned that a number of factors beyond the control of the Company could result in the Company not 

being able to sustain its current position.  Such factors could include adverse economic conditions, political and 

regulatory concerns and key individual staffing problems amongst others. 

Capital Resources 

 

The Company remains dependent upon equity markets for financing.  

 

The Company believes it currently has sufficient funds on hand to complete the Stage 1 exploration program and 

operating expenses for nine months.  
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The Company has no cash flow from operations and is dependent upon raising equity financing to sustain its 

operations. 

 

The Company has not issued dividends to date and has no plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

None. 

 

Transactions with Related Parties 

During the period ended February 29, 2012, the Company incurred management fees of $46,000 to the former 

President and Director of the Company who resigned on February 9, 2012. As at February 29, 2012, the former 

President and Director of the Company assigned the amount owing of $20,000 to a company controlled by a director 

of the Company.  The amount owing is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and due on demand. 

Proposed Transactions 

 

None. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

The Company’s critical accounting estimates include the valuation of exploration and evaluation assets, and 

valuation of deferred income tax assets and valuation allowances.  Estimates are based on historical experience, 

current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 

be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption 

 

The period from May 31, 2011 (date of inception) to February 29, 2012 was audited in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 

Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.   

 

The interim financial statements for the three month period ended May 31, 2012 was prepared in accordance with 

IAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting of the International Financial Reporting Standards”. 

 

The Company has not made any changes to its accounting policies since its incorporation date. 

Financial and Other Instruments 

 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 

management framework.  The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities and amounts due to related parties. 

 

The Company has classified its cash as held for trading, which is measured at fair value. Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities and amount due to related parties are measured at amortized cost. 

 

At May 31, 2012, the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company’s financial instruments related to cash, 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities and amounts due to related parties are the same due to their short terms to 

maturity. 

 

The Company's risk management activities include the preservation of its capital by minimizing risk related to its 

cash. The Company does not trade financial instruments for speculative purposes.  The Company does not have a 
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risk management committee nor written risk management policies.  The Company’s financial instruments are 

exposed to the risks described below: 

 

(a) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations.  The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash held by high credit quality banking 

institutions in Canada.  The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations as the 

Company has no business operations.  

 

(b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The 

Company has in place a planning process to help determine the funds required to support the Company’s normal 

operating requirements on an ongoing basis.  The Company ensures that there is sufficient working capital to fund 

near term planned operating expenditures.  At August 31, 2012, the Company had working capital of $163,343. 

 

(c) Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates.  

 

(d) Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates.  The Company is exposed to short term interest rates through the interest earned on 

cash balances.  The Company has cash balances and no interest-bearing debt.  The Company's current policy is to 

invest excess cash in short-term deposits with its banking institutions.  The Company periodically monitors the 

investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its bank. 

Other 

 

Capitalization as of May 31, 2012 

 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.  As at May 31, 2012, there are 

1,300,001 Shares, issued and outstanding in the capital of the Company, of which all are held in escrow.  There are 

3,225,318 Special Warrants issued and outstanding. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Security Data 

 

There are a total of 3,225,318 Special Warrants outstanding.  Of the Special Warrants outstanding, 2,183,651 

Special Warrants outstanding automatically convert into 2,183,651 Units, consisting of 2,183,651 Unit Shares and 

2,183,651 Unit Warrants on the Qualification Date. The Unit Warrants have an exercise price of $0.15 per share and 

are exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date. 

 

The remaining 1,041,667 outstanding Special Warrants automatically convert into 1,041,667 Units, consisting of 

1,041,667 Unit Shares and 1,041,667 Units Warrants on the first on the Qualification Date.  The common share 

purchase warrants have an exercise price of $0.25 per share and are exercisable for a period of two years from the 

Qualification Date. 

Additional disclosure for venture issuers or IPO venture issuers without significant revenue 

 

The Company has not had significant revenue from operations.  During the year ended February 29, 2012, the 

Company incurred general and administration fees of $611, professional fees of $13,149, rent of $4,000 and 

management fees of $46,000. 
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Additional disclosure for junior issuers 

 

The Company expects that its current capital resources will be sufficient to fund operations, other than the phase two 

exploration program, for about one year.  Estimated total operating costs during the year are expected to total about 

$118,000 for general and administration expenses, and outstanding fees related to the listing, and $55,000 for a 

phase one exploration program. If the results of the phase one exploration program are successful, then the Company 

intends to incur a budgeted $140,000 for a phase two exploration program.  At present the Company only has 

sufficient funds to conduct the phase one exploration program and the Company will need to raise additional capital.  

There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in raising additional funds. 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES DISTRIBUTED 
 

Common Shares 

 

We have one class of Shares, namely common shares.  We are authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares 

without par value.  As at the date of this Prospectus, we have issued and outstanding a total of 1,300,001 Shares, 

2,183,651 Special Warrants exercisable into 2,183,651 Units where each Unit is comprised of one Unit Share and 

one Unit Warrant exercisable at $0.15 per Share, and 1,041,667 Special Warrants exercisable into 1,041,667 Units 

where each Unit is comprised of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant exercisable at $0.25 per Share. 

 

All of our Shares rank equally as to voting rights, participation in a distribution of our assets on our liquidation, 

dissolution or winding-up and the entitlement to dividends.  The holders of Shares are entitled to receive notice of 

all meetings of shareholders and to attend and vote their Shares at the meetings.  Each Share carries with it the right 

to one vote.   

 

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up or other distribution of our assets, the holders of our Shares 

will be entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, all of our assets remaining after we have paid out our liabilities.  

Distribution in the form of dividends, if any, will be set by our board of directors. 

 

Special Warrants 

 

We have provided to each Special Warrant Holder a contractual right of rescission of the prospectus-exempt 

transaction under which the Special Warrant was initially acquired.  The contractual right of rescission provides that 

if a Special Warrant Holder who acquires another of our securities on exercise of the Special Warrant as provided 

for in this Prospectus is, or becomes, entitled under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction to the remedy of 

rescission because of the prospectus or an amendment to the prospectus containing a misrepresentation, then 

 

(a) the Holder is entitled to rescission of both the Holder’s exercise of its Special Warrant and the private 

placement transaction under which the Special Warrant was initially acquired, 

 

(b) the Holder is entitled in connection with the rescission to a full refund of all consideration paid to the 

underwriter or issuer, as the case may be, on the acquisition of the Special Warrant, and 

 

(c) if the Holder is a permitted assignee of the interest of the original Special Warrant subscriber, the Holder is 

entitled to exercise the rights of rescission and refund as if the Holder was the original subscriber. 
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 
 
The following table details our share and loan capital from the date of our incorporation to February 29, 2012, and to 

the date of this Prospectus.  Refer to “Prior Sales” below for further details on the issuances of securities. 

 

Designation of 

Security 

Number 

Authorized 

Outstanding at 

February 29, 2012 

Outstanding as at the date 

of this Prospectus 

  Amount 

($) 

No. of 

Securities 

Amount 

($) 

No. of 

Securities 

FS Shares
(1)  

Unlimited 6,501 1,300,001 6,501 1,300,001 

Special Warrants
(2) 

Unlimited 252,020 3,225,318 252,020 3,225,318 

Capitalization Unlimited 258,521 4,525,319 258,521 4,525,319 

 
(1)

 The FS Shares are comprised of 1,300,001 Shares.  Of the 1,300,001 Shares, 1,300,000 Shares were issued at a 

price of $0.005 per Share and one Share was issued at $1 per Share. 

 
(2)

 The Special Warrants are each exercisable into one Unit consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant.  Of 

the Unit Warrants, 2,183,651 are exercisable at $0.15 per Share and 1,041,667 are exercisable at $0.25 per Share. 

 

 

 

Designation of 

Security 

 

 

Number outstanding through to the date 

of this Prospectus 

Shares outstanding 

following exercise 

of all Unit 

Warrants 

 

Total 

Capitalization
(1)

 

($) 

 Amount 

($) 

No. of 

Shares 

No. of 

Warrants 

  

FS Shares
 

6,501 1,300,001 n/a 1,300,001 $6,501 

Special Warrants
 

252,020 3,225,318 3,225,318 n/a  

Common Shares 0 0 0 6,450,636 $839,984 

Deficit at May 31, 

2012 

 

(87,970) n/a n/a n/a (87,970) 

Capitalization 220,761 4,525,319 3,225,318 7,750,637 $758,515 
 

 
(1)

 Assumes exercise of all of 3,225,318 issued and outstanding Special Warrants, and before giving effect to the 

remaining costs of this prospectus estimated to be $40,000. 

 
 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 
 
Stock Option Plan 

 

We have adopted a Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) under which we may grant incentive stock options 

to our directors, officers, employees and consultants or any affiliate thereof.  The Stock Option Plan has been 

prepared so as to meet CNSX requirements.  

 

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to allow us to grant options to: (i) provide additional incentive and 

compensation, (ii) provide an opportunity to participate in our success; and (iii) align the interests of option holders 

with those of our shareholders. 

 

The material terms of the Stock Option Plan are as follows: 

 

 The maximum number of shares issuable is 10% of our issued and outstanding Shares on each grant date, 

inclusive of all Shares currently reserved for issuance pursuant to previously granted stock options. 

 

 The term of any options will be fixed by our directors at the grant date to a maximum term of five years.  
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 The exercise price of any options will be determined by our directors, but shall not be lower than the greater of 

the closing price of our Shares on (a) the day preceding the grant date, and (b) the date of grant of the stock 

options. 
 

 Vesting requirements may be imposed by our directors; and a four month hold period will apply to all Shares 

issued on the exercise of an option, commencing from the grant date.  

 

 All options will be non-assignable and non-transferable. 

 

 Options to acquire not more than (i) 5% of the issued and outstanding Shares may be granted to any one 

individual in any 12 month period; and (ii) 2% of the issued and outstanding Shares may be granted to any one 

consultant, or to all providers of investor relations activities, in any 12 month period. 

 

 If the option holder ceases to be a director or employee of the Company (other than by reason of death), then the 

option will expire no later than the 30
th

 day following the date that the option holder ceases to be a director or 

employee.  If the option holder is engaged in investor relations activities those options must also expire within 

30 days after the option holder ceases to provide such services. 

 

 The terms of an option may not be amended once issued.  If an option is cancelled prior to its expiry date, we 

must post notice of the cancellation with the CNSX and shall not grant new options to the same person until 30 

days have elapsed from the date of cancellation. 
 

 Options will be reclassified in the event of any consolidation, subdivision, conversion or exchange of our 

Shares. 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, we have not granted incentive stock options to our directors, officers or employees.  

Once the Company lists its common shares on the CNSX, it intends to grant 100,000 stock options to James Glass as 

his initial compensation for services performed in connection with acting as promoter of the Company. 

 

Special Warrants 

 

There are 3,225,318 Units issuable upon exercise of the 3,225,318 outstanding Special Warrants.  The outstanding 

Special Warrants will automatically be exercised on the first business day after the Qualification Date.  Each of the 

total 3,225,318 Units will consist of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant.  Of the Unit Warrants, 2,183,651 Unit 

Warrants will be exercisable at $0.15 per share and 1,041,667 Unit Warrants will be exercisable at $0.25 per share, 

and all of the Unit Warrants are exercisable for two years from the Qualification Date. 

 

PRIOR SALES 
 

The following table outlines the number and prices at which our securities have been sold (and repurchased) since 

our incorporation: 

 

Date No. and Class of Securities Price per 

Security 

($) 

Total 

Consideration 

($) 
 

FS Shares
 

Special 

Warrants
 

May 31, 2011 1
 

Nil 1.00 1.00 

June 4, 2011 1,300,000
 

Nil 0.005 6,500 

July 5, 2011 Nil 
(1)

400,000 0.05 20,000 

July 22, 2011 Nil 
(1)

296,000
 

0.06 17,760 

August 8, 2011 Nil 
(1)

296,000 0.06 17,760 

September 26, 2011 Nil 
(1)

1,191,651
 

0.06 71,500 

October 13, 2011 Nil 
(2)

1,041,667
 

0.12 125,000 

Total: 1,300,000 3,225,318  258,520 
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(1)
 Special Warrants each exercisable into one Unit comprised of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant, each 

Unit Warrant exercisable into one Share at $0.15 per Share. 

 (2) Special Warrants each exercisable into one Unit comprised of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant, each 

Unit Warrant exercisable into one Share at $0.25 per Share. 

 

 

ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 

Pursuant to National Policy 46-201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings (the “Escrow Policy”), the securities held by 

principals of the Company are held in escrow subject to the terms of an escrow agreement for a period of time 

following Qualification Date as an incentive for the principals to devote their time and attention to our business 

while they are securityholders. 

 

The following table sets out the number of our securities that are being held in escrow pursuant to the Escrow 

Agreement.  The principals subject to escrow are set forth in the table below. 

 

 

Designation of Class Number of Securities Held in Escrow Percentage of Class
(1) 

Shares 1,300,001 16.7% 
 (1) Assuming the exercise or deemed exercise of all outstanding Special Warrants. 

 

As the Company will be considered an “emerging issuer” as that term is defined under the Escrow Policy, the 

escrowed securities will be released according to the following schedule: 

 
On the date the Company’s securities are listed 

on a Canadian exchange (the listing date) 

1/10 of the escrowed securities 

6 months after the listing date 1/6 of the remaining escrowed securities 

12 months after the listing date 1/5 of the remaining escrowed securities 

18 months after the listing date 1/4 of the remaining escrowed securities 

24 months after the listing date 1/3 of the remaining escrowed securities 

30 months after the listing date 1/2 of the remaining escrowed securities 

36 months after the listing date the remaining escrowed securities 

 

In the simplest case, where there are no changes to the escrow securities initially deposited and no additional escrow 

securities, the release schedule outlined above results in the escrow securities being released in equal tranches of 

15% after completion of the release on the listing date. 

 

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS AND SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS 
 

As at the date of this Prospectus, there are 1,300,001 FS Shares and 3,225,318 Special Warrants, each exercisable 

into one Unit consisting of one Unit Share and one Unit Warrant, issued and outstanding. To the best of our 

knowledge, the following table sets out the names of the Company’s principal securityholders (being those persons 

or companies who beneficially own, or control or direct, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying 10% or 

more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Company), the number or amount of 

securities owned, controlled or directed by the Company’s principal securityholders as at the date of this Prospectus, 

the number or amount of securities being distributed for the account of the securityholder, the number or amount of 

securities owned, controlled or directed by the Company’s principal securityholders after the completion of the 

distribution contemplated hereunder, and the percentage that number or amount represents of the total outstanding: 

 

 
 

Name of Principal 

Securityholder 

 

Number or amount of 

securities owned, 

controlled or directed 

After Exercise Date 

Number or amount of 

securities owned, 

controlled or directed 

Percentage of 

class owned 
(2)

  

HLD Land 1,041,667 Special 1,041,667 Shares 13.4% 
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Development Limited 

Partnership 
Warrants 

(1) 

 

(1)
 Owned of record and in trust for its limited partners. 

(2) Assuming the exercise or deemed exercise of all outstanding Special Warrants. 

 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

Name, Occupation and Security Holding 

 

To the best of our knowledge, the following table sets out information regarding each of the Company’s directors 

and executive officers, including the names, province/state and country of residence, the positions and offices held 

and the period of time served in this position, their principal occupations for the preceding five years: 

 

Name, Province/State and 

Country of Residence and 

Position(s) held 

Principal occupations within the five preceding years No. and Percentage 

of Securities 

Currently Held
(3)

 

James Douglas Glass
(2)

 

North Vancouver, British 

Columbia, Canada 

President since February 9, 2012 

and Director
(1) 

 since February 9, 

2012 

Mr. Glass is the President and a director and member of 

the audit committee of Prize Mining Ltd. (TSX-V: PRZ) 

and a director and a member of the audit committee of 

Granite Creek Gold Ltd. (TSX-V: GCX). He has been a 

principal of Ascenta Capital Partners Inc., a leading 

provider of investor relations services to Canadian public 

companies, since 2001.  Mr. Glass is also a director of 

Amadeus Capital, a corporate consulting and investor 

relations company and is the President, CEO and a 

Director of HLD Land Development Limited Partnership 

an investment trading entity. 

Nil 

 

Craig Evan Rademaker
(2)

 

West Vancouver, British 

Columbia, Canada 

Director
(1)

 since February 9, 

2012 

 

 

President of Pearse Capital Corp., an independent 

company that advises on corporate matters, since April 

2011. Prior to that date, he was an investment adviser for 

PI Financial Corp. Mr. Rademaker has a BA in 

Economics from the Simon Fraser University. 

 

650,001 FS Shares 

(8.3%) 

John Anthony Versfelt
(2)

 

Maple Ridge, British Columbia, 

Canada 

Director
(1)

 since March 22, 2012 

President of American Resource Management 

Consultants Inc. (ARMC) from 1982 to present. Officer 

or Director of Cabo Drilling Corp., a public company 

listed on the TSX Venture Exchange from January 1992 

to present, and Chief Financial Officer from November 

2002 to October 2007. Director, CFO and Corporate 

Secretary of Open EC Technologies, Inc. from 

November 2002 to February 2010. Director of Avian 

Capital Inc. from October 2006 to December 2009. 

 

650,000 FS Shares 

(8.3%) 

Douglas Ian Johnston 

Vancouver, British Columbia, 

Canada 

Chief Financial Officer and 

Director
(1)

 since  

March 22, 2012 

 

Self-employed financial consultant for the past 28 years.  

President of Eagle Valley Biomass Corp.  Director of 

International Bio Recovery Corp. from May 2004 to 

December 2009. Corporate Secretary and director of 

Coreland Capital Inc. from May 2010 to March 2011. 

Nil 

 

(1)
 Directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors are appointed. 

(2) Denotes a member of our audit committee. 
(3) Assumes the exercise or deemed exercise of all of the Special Warrants. 
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Our directors and executive officers, as a group, beneficially own, or control or direct, directly or indirectly 

1,300,001 Shares, which represent 100% of our issued and outstanding common shares as at the date of this 

Prospectus.    

 

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

 

Except as set out below, to the best of our knowledge, none of our  directors, officers or principal shareholders are, 

or have been within the last 10 years, directors or officers of any other issuer that, while that person was acting in 

that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the issuer access to any 

statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became bankrupt, made a proposal under any 

legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 

compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that issuer. 

 

To the best of our knowledge, none of our directors, officers or principal shareholders are, or have been within the 

last 10 years, the subject of any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation 

or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 

securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 

body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 

To the best of our knowledge, none of our directors, officers or principal shareholders, or any personal holding 

company of such persons, has, within the last 10 years, become bankrupt or made a proposal under any legislation 

relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 

with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold his, her or its assets. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

Our directors are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company 

and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of the Company. If a conflict of 

interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict will disclose his interest and abstain 

from voting on such matter. 

 

To the best of the our knowledge there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest between us  and our 

directors and officers except that certain of the directors and officers may serve as directors and/or officers of other 

companies or may, directly or indirectly, provide consulting services to us , and therefore it is possible that a conflict 

may arise between their duties to us and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies or their duties as 

a service provider to us. 

 

Management of Junior Issuers 

 

The persons forming our management team and who act as our directors and officers are described briefly below. 

 

James Glass, age 41, has been the President and a director of the Company since February 9, 2012. 

 

Mr. Glass brings a diversified business background that includes the management, operation and administration of 

public companies. He has also been successful in taking companies from their formative stages through to 

development, financing and initial public offering. Mr. Glass spearheaded the development of Gresham Resources 

Inc., a leading junior oil and gas company with $20 million in annual revenues. In 2002, Alberta-based True Energy 

Inc. (TSX: TUI) acquired Gresham. Mr. Glass is the President and a director and member of the audit committee of 

Prize Mining Ltd. (TSX-V: PRZ) and a director and a member of the audit committee of Granite Creek Gold Ltd. 

(TSX-V: GCX). He has been a principal of Ascenta Capital Partners Inc., a leading provider of investor relations 

services to Canadian public companies, since 2001.  Mr. Glass is also a director of Amadeus Capital, a corporate 

consulting and investor relations company and is the President, CEO and a Director of HLD Land Development 

Limited Partnership an investment trading entity. 
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It is expected that initially Mr. Glass will devote approximately 20% of his time to our business and affairs.  Mr. 

Glass is not an employee of the Company and has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement 

with us. 

 

Craig Rademaker, age 46, has been a director of the Company since February 9, 2012. 

 

Mr. Rademaker has been the President of Pearse Capital Corp., an independent company that advises on corporate 

matters, since April 2011. Prior to that date he was an investment adviser for PI Financial Corp. Mr. Rademaker has 

a BA in Economics from the Simon Fraser University. 

 

It is expected that initially Mr. Rademaker will devote approximately 10% of his time to our business and affairs.  

Mr. Rademaker is not an employee of the Company and has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 

agreement with us. 

 

John Versfelt, age 62, has been a director of the Company since March 22, 2012. 

 

Mr. Versfelt is a Director, Chairman, President and CEO of Cabo Drilling Corp., a Canadian drilling services 

company. He has been an officer of Cabo Drilling Corp., since January, 1992. He is a Director, President and CEO 

of International Millennium Mining Corp., a mineral exploration company and has been an officer of it since April 

1992. Both of these companies are British Columbia/Alberta reporting Issuers trading on the Exchange. Mr. Versfelt 

was a director of Avian Capital Inc., was a Director, CFO and Corporate Secretary of Open EC Technologies Inc. 

and is currently the President of American Resource Management Consultants Inc., a company that has provided 

management consulting, accounting, administration and paralegal/regulatory services to numerous private and 

public companies for the past 27 years.  Mr. Versfelt is also currently the President, CEO and Director of Credent 

Capital Corp. 

 

It is expected that initially Mr. Versfelt will devote approximately 10% of his time to our business and affairs.  Mr. 

Versfelt is not an employee of the Company and has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement 

with us. 

 

Douglas Johnston, age 75, has been the CFO and a director of the Company since March 22, 2012. 

 

Mr. Johnston is a self-employed financial consultant presently involved with various private and public companies. 

Mr. Johnston is a chartered accountant who has worked in the Western Canadian forest industry for over 50 years 

identifying forest industry opportunities and developing Greenfield wood processing facilities for thermal 

mechanical pulp, lumber production, veneer production, wood pellet production and biomass fueled electrical 

generating facilities. He is one of five founding directors of Wood Pellet Association of Canada. Over the past five 

years he has worked for government agencies and private companies operating in British Columbia, Ontario, the 

United States and Europe identifying projects, preparing feasibility studies and developing various forest industry 

projects for pellet mills and biomass fuelled electricity generating facilities in British Columbia and Ontario.  Mr. 

Johnston was a director of International Bio Recovery Corp. and corporate secretary and director of Coreland 

Capital. 

 

It is expected that initially Mr. Johnston will devote approximately 10% of his time to our business and affairs.  Mr. 

Johnston is not an employee of the Company and has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 

agreement with us. 

 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 

Named Executive Officers’ Compensation 

 

In accordance with applicable securities legislation, we currently have two Named Executive Officers (“NEO”); 

being James Glass, our CEO and Douglas Johnston, our CFO. The following table sets forth a summary of the 

compensation paid to the NEOs during the period from incorporation (May 31, 2011) to May 31, 2012. 
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Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Period 

Ended 

Salary 

($) 

Share 

Based 

Awards 

($) 

Option 

Based 

Awards 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive 

Plan Compensation ($) 

Pension 

Value  

($) 

All Other 

Compen- 

Sation 

($) 

Total  

Compen-

sation 

($) 

Annual 

Incentive 

Plans 

Long Term 

Incentive 

Plans 

James Glass 

CEO 

February 

29, 2012 
nil nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Brett Walker 

Former CEO1 

February 

9, 2012  
20,000 32,501 nil nil nil nil nil  52,501 

Douglas 

Johnston 

CFO 

March 22, 

2012 
nil nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

 
1. Resigned as CEO on February 9, 2012. 

 

We do not have a “compensation committee” or any other board committee performing a similar function.  We do 

not provide any retirement benefits for our directors or officers; nor do we have any long term incentive plan 

(“LTIP”) or SAR.  

 

 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

 

We have a Stock Option Plan in place.  For a description of our Stock Option Plan, and the details regarding the 

options granted, see “Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities of the Company – Stock Option Plan” above. 

 
Pension Plan Benefits 

 

We do not have in place any defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans or defined compensation plans. 

 

Management and Consulting Agreements 

 

We do not have in place any management or consulting agreements with any of our directors or officers.  

 

Termination of Employment, Change of Control Benefits and Employment Contracts 

 

We have not entered into any employment contracts for management services or otherwise.  No benefits will accrue 

to any of our executive officers or employees upon their termination, or upon any change of control of the Company. 

 

Directors’ Compensation 

 

Directors will not receive any fees or other compensation for their acting as directors, except that directors will be 

entitled to incentive stock options pursuant to our Stock Option Plan in such individual amounts as the board of 

directors may determine from time to time, and reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on our behalf or 

in providing services as a director. 

 

The purpose of granting stock options is to assist in compensating, attracting, retaining and motivating our directors 

and to more closely align the personal interests of such persons to those of our shareholders. 

 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

None of our directors and executive officers or their associates have been indebted to us since our incorporation on 

May 31, 2011. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

The Audit Committee Charter 

 

Pursuant to the BCBCA, Exchange Policies, NI 52-110 and applicable securities legislation, we are required to have 

an audit committee comprised of at least three directors, the majority of whom must not be officers or employees of 

the Company. 

 

We must also have a written charter which sets out the duties and responsibilities of our audit committee. 

 

Mandate 

 

The primary function of the audit committee is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling its financial oversight 

responsibilities by reviewing the financial reports and other financial information provided by us to regulatory 

authorities and shareholders, our systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting, and our auditing, 

accounting and financial reporting processes.  Consistent with this function, the audit committee will encourage 

continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, our policies, procedures and practices at all levels.  The 

audit committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to (a) serve as an independent and objective party to 

monitor our financial reporting and internal control systems and review our financial statements; (b) review and 

appraise the performance of our external auditors; and (iii) provide an open avenue of communication among our 

auditors, financial and senior management and our directors. 

Composition 

 

The audit committee shall be comprised of three directors as determined by the board of directors, the majority of 

which shall be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of our directors, would reasonably interfere with the 

exercise of his or her independent judgment as a member of the audit committee.  At least one member of the audit 

committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise.  All members of the audit committee 

that are not financially literate will work towards becoming financially literate to obtain a working familiarity with 

basic finance and accounting practices.  For the purposes of the audit committee’s charter, the definition of 

“financially literate” is the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level 

of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that 

can presumably be expected to be raised by our financial statements.  The members of the audit committee shall be 

elected by our board of directors at its first meeting following the annual shareholders’ meeting. 

 

The majority of our audit committee is independent.  See “Composition of the Audit Committee” below.   

Meetings 

 

The audit committee shall meet at least four times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate.  As part of 

its job to foster open communication, the audit committee will meet at least annually with our CFO and the external 

auditors in separate sessions. 

Responsibilities and Duties 

 

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the audit committee shall: 

 

Documents/Reports Review 

 

(a)  Review and update this charter annually. 

 

(b)  Review our financial statements, MD&A and any annual and interim earnings, and press releases before we 

publicly disclose this information and any reports or other financial information (including quarterly 

financial statements), which are submitted to any governmental body, or to the public, including any 

certification, report, opinion, or review rendered by the external auditors.  
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(c) Confirm that adequate procedures are in place for the review of our public disclosure of financial 

information extracted or derived from our financial statements.   

 

External Auditors 

 

(a)  Review annually, the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to our 

directors and the audit committee as representatives of our shareholders. 

(b)  Obtain annually, a formal written statement of the external auditors setting forth all relationships between 

us and our external auditors, consistent with the Independence Standards Board Standard 1. 

(c)  Review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the 

objectivity and independence of the external auditors. 

(d)  Take, or recommend that the full board of directors take, appropriate action to oversee the independence of 

the external auditors. 

(e)  Recommend to our board of directors the selection and compensation and, where applicable, the 

replacement of the external auditors nominated annually for shareholder approval. 

(f)  At each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the quality 

of our accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy of our financial 

statements. 

(g)  Review and approve our hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees 

of our present and former external auditors. 

(h)  Review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial statements and 

intended template for such statements. 

(i)  Review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other compensation related 

thereto, and any non-audit services, provided by our external auditors. The pre-approval requirement is 

waived with respect to the provision of non-audit services if: 

(i) the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to us constitutes not more than 5% of 

the total amount of fees paid by us to our external auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-

audit services are provided; 

(ii) such services were not recognized by us at the time of the engagement to be non-audit services; 

and 

 

such services are promptly brought to the attention of the audit committee by us and approved prior to the 

completion of the audit by the audit committee or by one or more members of the audit committee who are 

members of our board of directors to whom authority to grant such approvals has been delegated by the 

audit committee.  Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the audit committee’s 

first scheduled meeting following such approval, such authority may be delegated by the audit committee 

to one or more independent members of the audit committee. 

Financial Reporting Processes 

 

(a)  In consultation with our external auditors, review with management the integrity of our financial reporting 

process, both internal and external. 

 

(b)  Consider the external auditors’ judgments about the quality and appropriateness of our accounting 

principles as applied in our financial reporting. 

 

(c)  Consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to our auditing and accounting principles and practices as 

suggested by our external auditors and management. 
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(d)  Review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and the 

view of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments. 

 

(e)  Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external auditors 

any significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the 

scope of work or access to required information. 

 

(f)  Review any significant disagreement among management and our external auditors in connection with the 

preparation of our financial statements. 

 

(g)  Review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in 

financial or accounting practices have been implemented. 

 

(h)  Review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or 

auditing matters. 

 

(i)  Review certification process. 

 

(j)  Establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by our employees of concerns regarding 

questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

Other 

 

Review any related-party transactions. 

 

The audit committee may (a) engage independent outside counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to 

carry out its duties; (b) set and pay the compensation for any advisors employed by the audit committee; and (c) 

communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.  The audit committee shall have unrestricted access to 

our personnel and documents and will be provided with the resources necessary to carry out its responsibilities. 

 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

 

The following are the members of our audit committee: 

 

James Glass Non-independent
1
 Financially literate

2
 

Craig Rademaker Independent
2
 Financially literate

2
 

John Versfelt Independent
2
 Financially literate

2
 

1.  Mr. Glass is non-independent by virtue of being the President of the Company. 

2. As defined in NI 52-110. 

 

Relevant Education and Experience 

 

In addition to each member’s general business experience, the education and experience of each audit committee 

member that is relevant to the performance of his or her responsibilities as an audit committee member is as follows: 
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Name 

 

Experience 

Audit Committee Experience 

Current Not Current 

James Glass Mr. Glass is the President, CEO and director 

of HLD Land Development Limited 

Partnership and serves as Director of Green 

Swan Capital Corp. (TSXV: GSW).  Mr. 

Glass is also a director of Amadeus Capital, a 

corporate consulting and investor relations 

company. 

Granite Creek Gold 

Ltd. (TSXV: GCX) 

HLD Land 

Development 

Limited Partnership 

(CNSX: HLDUN) 

Prize Mining 

Corporation 

(TSXV: PRZ) 

Philippine Metals 

Inc. (TSXV: PHI) 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

N/A 

Craig Rademaker Mr. Rademaker is the President of Pearse 

Capital Corp., an independent company that 

advises on corporate matters. Prior to April 

2012 he was an investment adviser for PI 

Financial Corp. Mr. Rademaker has a BA in 

Economics from the Simon Fraser University. 

N/A N/A 

John Versfelt Mr. Versfelt has been a Director, Chairman, 

President and CEO of Cabo Drilling Corp. 

(TSXV: CBE) and a Director, President and 

CEO of International Millennium Mining 

Corp. (TSXV: IMI) since April 1992.  Mr. 

Versfelt is currently the President of 

American Resource Management Consultants 

Inc., a company that has provided 

management consulting, accounting, 

administration and paralegal/regulatory 

services to numerous private and public 

companies for the past 27 years.  Mr. Versfelt 

is currently the President, CEO and Director 

of Credent Capital Corp. and was a Director, 

CFO and Corporate Secretary of Open EC 

Technologies Inc. from November 2002 to 

February 2010. 

Credent Capital 

Corp. (TSXV: 

CDTP) 

Open EC 

Technologies Inc. 

(TSXV: OCE) 

 

In addition to each member’s general business experience, the education and experience of each audit committee 

member that is relevant to the performance of his or her responsibilities as an audit committee member is as follows: 

 

James Glass 

 

Mr. Glass is currently a director and audit committee member to a number of public companies, in the natural 

resource sector. Through his work as a director and member of a number of audit committees of public companies 

Mr. Glass has gained an understanding of financial reporting requirements respecting financial statements of junior 

resource exploration companies sufficient to enable him to discharge his duties as an audit committee member. 

 

Craig Rademaker 

 

Mr. Rademaker is the President of Pearse Capital Corp., an independent company that advises on corporate matters. 

Prior to April 2012 he was an investment adviser for PI Financial Corp. in which role he learned to read and 

understand financial reporting especially as this relates to reporting company disclosure obligations under relevant 

securities laws role as an investment advisor. Mr. Rademaker has a BA in Economics from the Simon Fraser 

University 

 

John Versfelt  



 

 

37 

 

Mr. Versfelt is currently the President of American Resource Management Consultants Inc. (“ARMC”), a company 

that has provided management consulting, accounting, administration and paralegal/regulatory services to numerous 

private and public companies for the past 27 years. Mr. Versfelt has in the past sat on a number of audit committees 

of resource companies. Through his work as the President of ARMC and as a director and member of a number of 

audit committees of public companies, Mr. Versfelt has gained an understanding of financial reporting requirements 

respecting financial statements of junior resource exploration companies sufficient to enable him to discharge his 

duties as an audit committee member.  

 

Audit Committee Oversight 
 

At no time since the commencement of our most recently completed financial year was a recommendation of the 

audit committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by our board of directors. 

 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

 

At no time since the commencement of our most recently completed financial year have we relied on the exemption 

in Section 2.4 “De Minimis Non-audit Services” of NI 52-110, or an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or in part, 

granted under Part 8 of NI 52-110.  We are relying upon the exemption under Section 6.1 (Venture Issuers) of NI 

51-110. 

 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

 

The audit committee has adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services as 

described above under the heading “Audit Committee – Responsibilities and Duties - External Auditors”. 

 

External Auditor Service Fees (By Category) 

 

The aggregate fees billed by our external auditors in each of the last two fiscal years for audit fees are nil. 

 

Financial Year 

Ending 
Audit Fees Audit Related Fees

(1) 
Tax Fees

(2)
 All Other Fees

(3)
 

February 29, 2012 5,000 0 NA 5,000 

1. Fees charged for assurance and related services reasonably related to the performance of an audit or review 

of our financial statements, and not included under “Audit Fees”. 

2. Fees charged for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning services. 

3. Fees for products and services other than disclosed in any other column.  

 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Corporate governance relates to the activities of our board of directors, the members of which are elected by and are 

accountable to our shareholders, and takes into account the role of the individual members of management who are 

appointed by our board of directors and who are charged with our day-to-day management.  NI 58-201 establishes 

guidelines which apply to all public companies.  These guidelines are not intended to be prescriptive but to be used 

by issuers in developing their own corporate governance practices.  Our directors are committed to sound corporate 

governance practices, which are both in the interest of our shareholders and contribute to effective and efficient 

decision making.   

 

Pursuant to NI 58-101 we are required to disclose our corporate governance practices, as summarized below, in 

certain situations.  Our directors will continue to monitor such practices on an ongoing basis and when necessary 

implement such additional practices as they deem appropriate. 
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Board of Directors 

 

Our board of directors is currently comprised of four members, James Glass, Douglas Ian Johnston, Craig 

Rademaker and John Versfelt. 

 

NI 58-201 suggests that the board of directors of a public company should be constituted with a majority of 

individuals who qualify as “independent” directors.  An “independent” director is a director who has no direct or 

indirect material relationship with us.  A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of our 

board of directors, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a member’s independent judgment.  Of 

our directors, Craig Rademaker and John Versfelt are considered by us to be “independent” within the meaning of 

NI 58-101 and James Glass, by virtue of him being our President, is considered to be “non-independent”  

 

The independent directors exercise their responsibilities for independent oversight of management, and are provided 

leadership through their majority control of the board and ability to meeting independently of management 

whenever deemed necessary. 

 

Directorships 

 

See “Directors and Executive Officers - Management of Junior Issuers” above for information regarding our 

Directors’ involvement with other reporting issuers. 

 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

 

Each new director is given an outline of the nature of our business, our corporate strategy, and current issues within 

the Company.  New directors are also required to meet with our management to discuss and better understand our 

business and are given the opportunity to meet with our legal counsel to discuss their legal obligations as directors of 

the Company.  

 

In addition, our management takes steps to ensure that our directors and officers are continually updated as to the 

latest corporate and securities policies which may affect our directors, officers and committee members as a whole.  

We continually review the latest securities rules and policies and are on the mailing list of the Exchange to receive 

updates to any of those policies.  Any such changes or new requirements are then brought to the attention of our 

directors either by way of director or committee meetings or by direct communications from management to the 

directors. 

 

Ethical Business Conduct 

 

We have adopted a written Code of Ethical Conduct (the “Code”) for our directors, officers and employees.  As one 

measure to ensure compliance with the Code, our directors have also established a Whistleblower Policy which 

details complaint procedure for financial concerns.  The full text of these standards is available free of charge to any 

person upon request to our head office at 1210 – 1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 3X1.  Also, see 

the website www.sedar.com. 

 

In addition, as some of our directors also serve as directors and officers of other companies engaged in similar 

business activities, they must comply with the conflict of interest provisions of the BCBCA, as well as the relevant 

securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure that they exercise independent judgment in considering 

transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or officer has a material interest.  Any interested director 

would be required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and would not be entitled to vote at meetings of 

directors which evoke any such conflict. 

 

Nomination of Directors 

 

Our management is continually in contact with individuals involved in the mineral exploration industry and public 

sector resource issuers.  From these sources we have made numerous contacts and in the event that we were in a 

position to nominate any new directors, such individuals would be brought to the attention of the board of directors.  

We conduct due diligence, reference and background checks on any suitable candidate.  New nominees must have a 

http://www.sedar.com/
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track record in general business management, special expertise in an area of strategic interest to us, the ability to 

devote the time required and a willingness to serve. 

 

Compensation of Directors 

 

Our directors will not receive any fees or other compensation for acting as directors, except that they will be entitled 

to incentive stock options in such individual amounts as our board of directors may determine from time to time, and 

reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on our behalf, or in providing services as a director. 

 

Other Board Committees 

 

We currently have only an Audit Committee in place. 

 

Assessments 

 

Being an emerging venture issuer with limited administration resources, our directors work closely with 

management and, accordingly, are in a position to assess each individual director’s performance on an ongoing 

basis.   

 

 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 
 

Special Warrant Offerings 

 

We previously completed private placements of a total of 3,225,318 Special Warrants.  The prices for the Special 

Warrants, being $0.05, $0.06 and $0.12, were based on various factors, including without limitation, the estimated 

value of our tangible and intangible assets, the estimated value of our future cash flows, readily discernible market 

values of comparable companies, and our financial condition, past and projected operating results, capital structure, 

and business prospects, and other relevant factors such as the absence of a trading market for our stock.  The Special 

Warrants were distributed pursuant to prospectus and registration exemptions under applicable securities legislation 

in the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario.  The distribution of the Special Warrants are qualified 

under this prospectus.  One of the holders of a Special Warrant is holding the Unit Shares underlying 1,041,667 

Special Warrants in trust for its limited partners and, upon we becoming a reporting issuer in the Provinces, will 

distribute the 1,041,667 Unit Shares and Unit Warrant to be issued upon the deemed exercise of the 1,041,667 

Special Warrants as an in specie dividend to its limited partners. 

 

Each Special Warrant entitles the holder thereof, upon exercise or deemed exercise, to acquire without additional 

payment or consideration, one underlying Unit, subject to adjustment as described below.  Each Special Warrant 

may be exchanged by the holder for one Unit at any time until the first to occur (“Exchange Date”) of: (i) the 

Qualification Date and (ii) the tenth (10
th

) anniversary of the date of the Special Warrant certificates.  Any Special 

Warrants not exercised prior to 5:00 p.m. (Vancouver Time) on the Exchange Date shall be deemed to have been 

exercised at that time without any further action on the part of the Holder. 

 

In the event that Special Warrants are exercised prior to the Qualification Date, or if Qualification does not occur, 

the underlying Units or Unit Shares and Unit Warrants obtained upon such exercise will be subject to resale 

restrictions.  

 

The price of $0.05, $0.06 and $0.12 per Special Warrant paid by the Holders is substantially higher than the average 

price of $0.005 per FS Share paid for the founders’ FS Shares.  As a result, purchasers of Special Warrants will 

experience immediate dilution.  This dilution is due in large part to the fact that the founders’ FS Shares were issued 

for substantially less than the $0.05, $0.06 and $0.12 per Special Warrant paid by later investors. 

 

We will not receive any additional proceeds with respect to the Units distributed on exercise of the Special 

Warrants. 
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The number of underlying Units issuable pursuant to any exercise of the Special Warrants will be adjusted upon the 

occurrence of certain events, including any capital reorganization, reclassification, subdivision or consolidation of 

our capital stock, or any merger, amalgamation or other corporate combination of the Company with one or more 

other entities, or of any other events in which new securities of any nature are delivered in exchange for the issued 

Units. 

 

We have applied to list our Shares issuable upon the exercise or deemed exercise of the Special Warrants on the 

CNSX.  Listing will be subject to us fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CNSX. 

 

We do not have any of our securities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and do not 

intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the TSX Venture Exchange, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, 

a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the United States of America. 

 

RISK FACTORS 
 

Our securities should be considered a highly speculative investment and investors should carefully consider all of 

the information disclosed in this prospectus prior to making an investment in our securities.  In addition to the other 

information presented in this prospectus, the following risk factors should be given special consideration when 

evaluating an investment in any of our securities. 

 

Limited History:  We were only recently incorporated, have not commenced commercial operations and have no 

assets other than cash and the Property. 

 

No Established Market:  There is no market at this time through which our securities may be sold.  Even if a 

market develops, there is no assurance that the price paid by our shareholders for their Shares will reflect the market 

price if and when a market has developed. 

 

Going Concern Risks 

 

There are certain “going concern” risks associated with our business, meaning that we may not be able to realize our 

assets and discharge our liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.  Our ability to 

continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to raise equity financing, and no assurance can be given 

that we will be successful in that regard in the long term.  Should we be unable to continue as a going concern, the 

carrying values and classification of our assets and liabilities in our financial statements would need to be adjusted, 

which adjustments could be material. 

 

The application of the going concern concept may also be dependent upon our ability to generate future profitable 

operations and / or receive continued financial support from our creditors and shareholders.  There is no assurance 

that (i) work on the Property will ultimately prove to be profitable; (ii) that we will be successful in acquiring new 

projects; (iii) that we will be successful in raising the necessary capital to meet our funding requirements; or (iv) that 

we will successful in undertaking cost cutting measures.  The business of mining and exploration involves a high 

degree of risk and there can be no assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining 

operations.  We have no source of revenue, and have significant cash requirements to meet our administrative 

overhead and maintain our mineral interests.   

 

Conflicts of Interest:  Certain of our directors and officers are, and may continue to be, involved in the mining and 

mineral exploration industry through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships or joint 

ventures which are our potential competitors.  Situations may arise in connection with potential acquisitions or 

opportunities where the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict with our interests.  Our directors 

and officers with conflicts of interest will be subject to and will follow the procedures set out in applicable corporate 

and securities legislation, regulation, rules and policies. 

 

Requirement of New Capital:  As an exploration company without revenues, we typically need more capital than 

we have available to us or can expect to generate through the sale of our products.  In the past, we have had to raise, 

by way of equity financing, considerable funds to meet our capital needs. There is no guarantee that we will be able 

to continue to raise funds needed for our business.  Failure to raise the necessary funds in a timely fashion will limit 
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our growth.  We do not have sufficient funds to pay for the entire Stage 2 exploration program and there is no 

assurance funds will be available to us in the future.  The recent downturn in financial markets may continue for 

some time and it may be very difficult or even impossible for us to raise any additional funding. 

 

Exploration and Development: The Property is in an exploration stage only and is without a known body of 

commercial ore.  Development of the Property will only follow upon obtaining satisfactory results.  The option to 

acquire the Property is our only material asset and if initial exploration results are not encouraging, we may need to 

acquire another mineral exploration property or properties.  Exploration and development of natural resources 

involve a high degree of risk and few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing 

properties.  There is no assurance that our exploration and development activities will result in any discoveries of 

commercial bodies of ore.  The long-term profitability of our operations will be in part directly related to the cost 

and success of its exploration programs, which may be affected by a number of factors.  Substantial expenditures are 

required to establish reserves through drilling, to develop processes to extract the resources and, in the case of new 

properties, to develop the extraction and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for extraction.  

Although substantial benefits may be derived from the discovery of a major deposit, no assurance can be given that 

resources will be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that the funds required for 

development can be obtained on a timely basis. 

 

Operating Hazards and Risks:  Exploration for natural resources involves many risks, which even a combination 

of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome.  Operations in which we have a 

direct or indirect interest will be subject to all the hazards and risks normally incidental to exploration, development 

and production of resources, any of which could result in work stoppages, damage to persons or property and 

possible environmental damage.  Although we have or will obtain liability insurance in an amount which it 

considers adequate, the nature of these risks is such that liabilities might exceed policy limits, the liabilities and 

hazards might not be insurable against, or we might not elect to insure our self against such liabilities due to high 

premium costs or other reasons, in which event we could incur significant costs that could have a material adverse 

effect upon its financial condition. 

 

Fluctuating Prices:  Our revenues, if any, are expected to be in large part derived from the extraction and sale of 

base and precious metals such as gold and silver.  The price of those commodities has fluctuated widely, particularly 

in recent years, and is affected by numerous factors beyond our control including international, economic and 

political trends, expectations of inflation, currency exchange fluctuations, interest rates, global or regional 

consumptive patterns, speculative activities and increased production due to new extraction developments and 

improved extraction and production methods.  The effect of these factors on the price of base and precious metals, 

and therefore the economic viability of any of our exploration projects, cannot accurately be predicted. 

 

Environmental Factors:  All phases of our operations are subject to environmental regulation in the jurisdiction in 

which it operates. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and 

enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of 

proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and 

employees.  There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect 

our operations. 

 

First Nations Rights:  First Nations rights may be claimed on Crown properties or other types of tenure with 

respect to which mining rights have been conferred.  We are not aware of any aboriginal land claims having been 

asserted or any legal actions relating to native issues having been instituted with respect to the Property. 

 

Competition:  The resource industry is intensely competitive in all of its phases, and we compete with many 

companies possessing greater financial resources and technical facilities than ourselves. Competition could 

adversely affect our ability to acquire suitable properties for exploration in the future. 

 

Title to Assets:  While we have followed and intend to follow standard industry accepted due diligence procedures 

with respect to title for any concessions in which we have or will acquire a material interest, there is no guarantee 

that title to such concessions will be not challenged or impugned.  In some countries, the system for recording title 

to the rights to explore, develop and mine natural resources is such that a title opinion provides only minimal 
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comfort that the holder has title.  Also, in many countries, claims have been made and new claims are being made by 

aboriginal peoples that call into question the rights granted by the governments of those countries. 

 

Management:  We are dependent on a relatively small number of key employees, the loss of any of whom could 

have an adverse effect on our operations. Our business includes exploration of mineral properties which requires 

specific mining technical expertise. While our directors have a number of years operating and managing public 

exploration companies they do not possess the needed technical expertise. At this stage in the development of our 

business, our management will utilize the services of independent consultants on a when needed basis. 

 

Dividends:  We have not paid dividends in the past and do not anticipate paying dividends in the near future.  We 

expect to retain our earnings to finance further growth and, when appropriate, retire debt. 

 

Value of Company:  Our assets are of indeterminate value.  For further particulars see the financial statements 

scheduled hereto. 

 

Liquidity:  Our Shares are subject to certain trade restrictions, which may include a hold period restricting the 

trading of the securities. 

 

PROMOTER 
 

Mr. Glass can be considered our Promoter, having taken initiative in organizing the Company.  Mr. Glass owns, 

directly or indirectly, none of our Shares. See “Principal Shareholders and Selling Security Holders”, “Directors and 

Officers”, “Transactions with Related Parties” and “Executive Compensation”.  

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 
 

We are not aware of any legal proceedings or pending legal proceedings or regulatory actions which we are or are 

likely to be a party to or of which the Property is likely to be the subject of. 

 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 
 

Except as set out above under Management’s Discussion and Analysis ‘Liquidity and Capital Resources’ and 

‘Transactions with Related Parties’, the directors, senior officers and principal shareholders of the Company or any 

associate or affiliate of the foregoing have had no material interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions in which 

the Company has participated within the three year period prior to the date of this Prospectus, or will have any 

material interest in any proposed transaction, which has materially affected or will materially affect the Company. 

 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 
 

Auditor 

 

Our auditor is Saturna Group Chartered Accountants LLP, of Suite 1250 - 1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, 

BC V6E 3X1. 

 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

 

The transfer agent and registrar of our Shares is Equity Financial Trust Company, of 1185 West Georgia St., Suite 

1620, Vancouver, BC  V6E 4E6. 

 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
 

Since incorporation we have entered into the following contracts, which are currently material: 

 

1. Transfer Agency and Registrarship Agreement 
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2. Escrow Agreement (see “Escrowed Securities”) 

 

These material contracts can be inspected at our records office, Suite 700 – 625 Howe Street, Vancouver, BC during 

normal business hours during the distribution of the Units and Shares that are qualified hereunder and for a period of 

thirty days thereafter. 

 

EXPERTS 
 

The information on the Property is summarized from the Report titled the “Review of Technical Information and 

Proposed Exploration Program for the Sericite East Property” dated December 31, 2011, prepared by Carl von 

Einsiedel, P.Geo.  Mr. von Einsiedel is a Qualified Person.  A copy of this Report can be found on the Company’s 

disclosure page on www.sedar.com after it has been posted.  To our knowledge , Mr. von Einsiedel  has not held, 

does not hold or and will not receive any registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any of our securities 

or the Property, and Mr. von Einsiedel is independent of us applying all of the tests in section 1.4 of National 

Instrument 43-101, which state that a qualified person is independent of an issuer if there is no circumstance that 

could, in the opinion of a reasonable person aware of all relevant facts, interfere with the qualified person’s 

judgment regarding the preparation of the Report.  

 

The Company’s financial statements have been audited by Saturna Group Chartered Accountants LLP, who also 

prepared the auditor’s report.  To our knowledge, neither Saturna Group nor any partner, employee or consultant of 

Saturna Group, has any registered or any direct or indirect interest in our securities or our Property. 

 

Certain legal matters relating to this issue will be passed upon by Maitland & Company, Barristers and Solicitors, of 

Vancouver, BC, on our behalf.  Maitland & Company acquired 400,000 Special Warrants of the Company at a price 

of $0.05 per Special Warrant.  On the Qualification Date, Maitland & Company will hold 400,000 Unit Shares and 

400,000 Unit Warrants to acquire an additional 400,000 Shares at a price of $0.15 per Share, which will then 

represent 5.1% of our issued and outstanding Shares. 

 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 
 

There are no other material facts relating to the securities offered in this Prospectus that have not been disclosed 

elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCLOSURE 
 

Attached to and forming a part of this prospectus are our audited financial statements for the period from May 31, 

2011 (date of incorporation) to February 29, 2012 and unaudited financial statements for the three month period 

ended May 31, 2012. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
To the Shareholders of Fortify Resources Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Fortify Resources Inc. (the “Company”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at February 29, 2012, and the statements of comprehensive loss, 
changes in equity, and cash flows for the period from May 31, 2011 (date of incorporation) to February 29, 2012, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.   

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also involves evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.   

Opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at February 29, 2012 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from May 31, 
2011 (date of incorporation) to February 29, 2012, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements which 
describe certain conditions that give rise to substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the 
outcome of this uncertainty.  

 
Chartered Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 

October 10, 2012 
 
 
 
 



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
  February 29,  

2012 
  $ 
   

ASSETS 
 
Current assets 
 

Cash   228,652 
Amounts receivable  1,707 
Prepaid expenses  5,600 

   
Total current assets  235,959 

 
Non-current assets   

 
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 3)  17,450 

 
Total assets  253,409 

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 

Current liabilities 
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5)  32,648 
   
Total Liabilities  32,648 
   

Shareholders’ Equity 
 

Share capital   32,501 

Share subscriptions received (Note 4)  252,020 

Deficit  (63,760) 
   
Total shareholders’ equity  220,761 
   
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  253,409 

 
Nature of business and continuance of operations (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 10) 
 
 
 

Approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on October 10, 2012: 

/s/ “James Glass”  /s/ “Craig Rademaker” 

    
James Glass, Director  Craig Rademaker, Director 



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
 

F-3 
 

FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

  

Period from  
May 31, 2011  

(date of 
incorporation) to 

February 29,  
2012 

  $ 

   

Revenue  – 

   

Expenses   

Management fees (Note 6)  46,000 

Office and general   611 

Professional fees  13,149 

Rent    4,000 
   
Total expenses   63,760 
   
Net loss and comprehensive loss  (63,760) 

   

Net loss per share, basic and diluted (Note 5)  – 

   

Weighted average shares outstanding   – 

 
 
 



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC.  
Statement of Changes in Equity 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

  Share  Total 
 Share Capital Subscriptions  Shareholders’ 
 Shares Amount Received Deficit Equity 
 $ $ $ $ 

    
Balance, May 31, 2011 (date of 
incorporation) – – – – – 
      
Shares issued for cash and services 1,300,001 32,501 – – 32,501 

Share subscriptions received – – 252,020 – 252,020 

Net loss for the period – – – (63,760) (63,760) 
      
Balance, February 29, 2012 1,300,001 32,501 252,020 (63,760) 220,761 

 



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 

 

Period from 
May 31, 2011 

(date of 
incorporation) 

to February 29,  
2012 

  $ 

 

Operating Activities 
   
Net loss for the period  (63,760) 
   
Items not involving cash:   

Shares issued for services  26,000 
   
Changes in non-cash operating accounts:  

Amounts receivable  (1,707) 

Prepaid expenses  (5,600) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  32,648 
   
Net cash used in operating activities  (12,419) 
 
Investing Activities 
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures  (17,450) 
    
Net cash used in investing activities  (17,450) 
   
Financing Activities 
 

Proceeds from common share subscriptions  258,521 
   
Net cash provided by financing activities  258,521 
   
Increase in cash   228,652 
   
Cash, beginning of period  – 

 
Cash, end of period  228,652 

   
Supplemental information  

   
Interest paid  – 
Income taxes paid  – 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
February 29, 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. Nature of Business and Continuance of Operations 

Fortify Resources Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on May 31, 2011, under the British 
Columbia Business Corporations Act. The Company is engaged in the acquisition and exploration of 
mineral properties in Canada. To maintain exploration programs, mineral property interests and 
develop future projects beyond the exploration stage, the Company will need additional funding.   

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of a going concern, which contemplates 
the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business. As at February 
29, 2012, the Company has not generated any revenues and has an accumulated deficit of $63,760. 
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to raise 
additional working capital when needed, and generate profitable operations from its operations. 
Although management estimates that the Company has sufficient working capital to meet anticipated 
expenditures for at least the ensuing year, there is no certainty that the Company’s current or future 
exploration projects will generate operating revenue or that the management can obtain the 
necessary financing at rates and terms that are suitable for the Company.  These factors may cast 
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to the recorded assets or liabilities that might be 
necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

The Company’s head office is located at Suite 1210, 1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, Canada, V6E 3X1. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Statement of Compliance  

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee. 

(b) Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are presented in 
Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.  

(c) Use of Estimates and Judgments 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the period. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the processing of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  The impacts of such estimates and judgements are 
pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on 
future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates and judgements are recognized in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions include the estimation of the tax basis of assets 
and liabilities and related deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and recognition of a provision 
for environmental rehabilitation including the estimation of the rehabilitation costs, timing of 
expenditures, impact of changes in discount rates, and changes in environmental and regulatory 
requirements.  Significant judgements made by management include the future economic benefit 
of exploration and evaluation costs including factors used in determining the potential impairment 
of exploration and evaluation costs.  



FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
February 29, 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on deposit with banks and highly liquid short-term 
interest bearing investments with a term to maturity at the date of purchase of 90 days or less 
from the date of acquisition.  

(e) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures include the costs of acquiring licenses, costs associated 
with exploration and evaluation activity, and the fair value (at acquisition date) of exploration and 
evaluation assets acquired in a business combination. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
are capitalized. Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an 
area are charged to operations. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to 
determine technical feasibility and commercial viability, and (ii) facts and circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an 
area of interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of 
interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified to mining property and development 
assets within property, plant and equipment.  

Recoverability of the carrying amount of any exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas 
of interest. 

Mineral Property Options 

The Company does not record any expenditures made by the optionee in its accounts. It also 
does not recognize any gain or loss on its exploration and evaluation option arrangements but re-
designates any costs previously capitalized in relation to the whole interest as relating to the 
partial interest retained and any consideration received directly from the optionee is credited 
against costs previously capitalized. 

(f) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

At each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there are indicators of impairment for 
its non-financial assets. If indicators exist, the Company determines if the recoverable amount of 
the asset or cash generating unit (“CGU”) is greater than its carrying amount. A CGU is defined 
as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The Company has used 
geographical proximity, geological similarities, analysis of shared infrastructure, commodity type, 
assessment of exposure to market risks and materiality to define its CGUs. 

If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is recorded at its 
recoverable amount with the reduction recognized in profit or loss. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the value in use or fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is the amount the asset could 
be sold for in an arm’s length transaction. The value in use is the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset from its continued use. The fair value less costs to sell considers 
the continued development of a property and market transactions in a valuation model.  

Impairments are reversed in subsequent periods when there has been an increase in the 
recoverable amount of a previously impaired asset or CGU and these reversals are recognized in 
profit or loss. The recovery is limited to the original carrying amount less depreciation, if any, that 
would have been recorded had the asset not been impaired. 

 



FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
February 29, 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(g) Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Provisions 

The Company recognizes a provision for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations 
associated with decommissioning of mining operations and reclamation and rehabilitation costs 
arising when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration or development of mineral 
properties, plant and equipment. Provisions for site closure and reclamation are recognized in the 
period in which the obligation is incurred or acquired, and are measured based on expected 
future cash flows to settle the obligation, discounted to their present value. The discount rate 
used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability including risks specific to the countries in which the related 
operation is located. 

When an obligation is initially recognized, the corresponding cost is capitalized to the carrying 
amount of the related asset in mineral properties. These costs are depreciated using either the 
unit of production or straight line method depending on the asset to which the obligation relates. 

The obligation is increased for the accretion and the corresponding amount is recognized as a 
finance expense. The obligation is also adjusted for changes in the estimated timing, amount of 
expected future cash flows, and changes in the discount rate. Such changes in estimates are 
added to or deducted from the related asset except where deductions are greater than the 
carrying value of the related asset in which case, the amount of the excess is recognized in the 
statements of comprehensive income/loss. 

Due to uncertainties concerning environmental remediation, the ultimate cost to the Company of 
future site restoration could differ from the amounts provided. The estimate of the total provision 
for future site closure and reclamation costs is subject to change based on amendments to laws 
and regulations, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates, and as 
new information concerning the Company’s closure and reclamation obligations becomes 
available. 

The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs to date. 

(h) Loss Per Share 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares 
of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant 
period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to 
common shares by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and 
outstanding and all additional common shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially 
dilutive instruments were converted. Potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the 
calculation of dilutive loss per share as they are anti-dilutive. The diluted loss per common share 
is equal to the basic loss per share for the period ended February 29, 2012. 

(i) Income Tax 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized 
directly in equity or in the other comprehensive loss. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on 
taxable income or loss for the current year and any adjustments to income tax payable in respect 
of previous years. Current income taxes are determined using tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amounts of an asset or 
liability differs from its tax base, except for the taxable temporary differences arising on the initial 
recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 



FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
February 29, 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(i) Income Tax (continued) 

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period, 
the Company re-assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a 
previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

(j) Financial Instruments 

The Company does not have any derivative financial instruments.  

Non-derivative financial assets 

The Company classifies financial assets as either financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, available-for-sale, or loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of financial 
assets at initial recognition. 

Assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-
for-trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition, and are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value and transaction costs recognized in profit or loss when incurred.   

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or are not classified in any other financial asset category. They are measured at fair value and 
changes in fair value other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences are 
recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. When an investment is derecognized, the 
cumulative gain or loss in the investment revaluation reserve is transferred to profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

The Company classifies its cash as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 
amounts receivable as loans and receivable.  The Company did not have any financial assets 
classified as available-for-sale.   

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Company classified financial liabilities as other liabilities. Such financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other liabilities. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  
Finanical asset are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash 
flows of the assets have been impacted. Factors that could indicate impairment of financial assets 
include significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in payment, bankruptcy, or financial 
reorganization. 

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases in subsequent periods and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount does not exceed what the 
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(j) Financial Instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities 
and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement. At the date of issue, 
the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for 
similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost 
basis until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity 
component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the face value 
of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognized and included in equity, net of income 
tax effects, and is not subsequently re-measured. 

(k) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective 

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are effective for 
the period ended February 29, 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these financial 
statements. 

(i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012: 

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” 
In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 to require companies to group together 
items within other comprehensive income (“OCI”) that may be reclassified to the statement of 
income. The amendments also reaffirm existing requirements that items in OCI and profit or 
loss should be presented as either a single statement or two separate statements. The 
amendments are to be applied retrospectively. 

(ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013: 

New standard IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” 

Partial replacement of IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 
9 introduces new requirements for how an entity should classify and measure financial assets 
that are in the scope of IAS 39. The standard requires all financial assets to be classified on 
the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets, and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. A financial asset is measured at amortized 
cost if two criteria are met: (a) the objective of the business model is to hold the financial 
asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows, and (b) the contractual cash flows under 
the instrument solely represent payments of principal and interest. If a financial asset meets 
the criteria to be measured at amortized cost, it can be designated at fair value through profit 
or loss under the fair value option, if doing so would significantly reduce or eliminate an 
accounting mismatch. If a financial asset does not meet the business model and contractual 
terms criteria to be measured at amortized cost, then it is subsequently measured at fair 
value. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to accounting for 
financial liabilities. Under the new requirements, an entity choosing to measure a financial 
liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in 
the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or loss. 

New Standard IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 to replace portions of IAS 27, “Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements” and interpretation SIC-12, “Consolidated - Special Purpose 
Entities”. IFRS 10 incorporates a single model for consolidating all entities that are controlled 
and revises the definition of control to be "An investor controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
current ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee”. Along with control, 
the new standard also focuses on the concept of power, both of which will include a use of 
judgement and a continuous reassessment as facts and circumstances change. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013: 

New standard IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 to replace IAS 31, “Interest in Joint Ventures”. The 
new standard will apply to the accounting for interest in joint arrangements where there is 
joint control. Joint arrangements will be separated into joint ventures and joint operations. 
The structure of the joint arrangement will no longer be the most significant factor on 
classifying a joint arrangement as either a joint operation or a joint venture. Proportionate 
consolidations will be removed and replaced with equity accounting.  

New standard IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12. The new standard includes disclosure requirements 
about subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, as well as unconsolidated structured 
entities and replaces existing disclosure requirements.  

New standard IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 3.  The new standard converges IFRS and US GAAP on 
how to measure fair value and the related fair value disclosures. The new standard creates a 
single source of guidance for fair value measurements, where fair value is required or 
permitted under IFRS, by not changing how fair value is used but how it is measured. The 
focus will be on an exit price. 

 (iii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015:  

New standard IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” 

Partial replacement of IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 
9 introduces new requirements for how an entity should classify and measure financial assets 
that are in the scope of IAS 39. The standard requires all financial assets to be classified on 
the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets, and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. A financial asset is measured at amortized 
cost if two criteria are met: (a) the objective of the business model is to hold the financial 
asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows, and (b) the contractual cash flows under 
the instrument solely represent payments of principal and interest. If a financial asset meets 
the criteria to be measured at amortized cost, it can be designated at fair value through profit 
or loss under the fair value option, if doing so would significantly reduce or eliminate an 
accounting mismatch. If a financial asset does not meet the business model and contractual 
terms criteria to be measured at amortized cost, then it is subsequently measured at fair 
value. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to accounting for 
financial liabilities. Under the new requirements, an entity choosing to measure a financial 
liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in 
the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or loss. 

The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is currently assessing the 
impact that these standards will have on the financial statements. 

Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been 
issued but have future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.   
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3. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

  

Sericite 
East 

Property 
  $ 
   
Balance, May 31, 2011 (date of incorporation)  – 
   

Acquisition costs  6,822 

Exploration costs  10,628 
   
Balance, February 29, 2012  17,450 

During the period ended February 29, 2012, the Company purchased a 100% interest in the Sericite 
East Property located in British Columbia, Canada, consisting of two mineral claims, for consideration 
of $6,822.  

 
 
4. Share Capital 

Authorized - unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding:  1,300,001 common shares 

(a) On May 31, 2011, the Company issued 1 share at $1 per share for proceeds of $1. 

(b) On June 4, 2011, the Company issued 1,300,000 shares at $0.025 per share for proceeds of 
$6,500 and management fees of $26,000. 

Special Warrants 

(c) On July 5, 2011, the Company issued 400,000 Series “A” special warrants for proceeds of 
$20,000. Each Series “A” special warrant is exercisable into one unit for no additional 
consideration. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable into one common share at $0.15 per share for a period of two years following the 
date a final receipt is issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission for the Company’s 
prospectus. 

(d) On July 22, 2011, the Company issued 296,000 Series “A” special warrants for proceeds of 
$17,760. Each Series “A” special warrant is exercisable into one unit for no additional 
consideration. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable into one common share at $0.15 per share for a period of two years following the 
date a final receipt is issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission for the Company’s 
prospectus. 

(e) On August 8, 2011, the Company issued 296,000 Series “A” special warrants for proceeds of 
$17,760. Each Series “A” special warrant is exercisable into one unit for no additional 
consideration. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable into one common share at $0.15 per share for a period of two years following the 
date a final receipt is issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission for the Company’s 
prospectus. 

(f) On September 26, 2011, the Company issued 1,191,651 Series “A” special warrants for proceeds 
of $71,500. Each Series “A” special warrant is exercisable into one unit for no additional 
consideration. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable into one common share at $0.15 per share for a period of two years following the 
date a final receipt is issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission for the Company’s 
prospectus. 
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4. Share Capital (continued) 

(g) On October 13, 2011, the Company issued a total of 1,041,667 Series “A” special warrants for 
proceeds of $125,000. Each Series “A” special warrant is exercisable into one unit for no 
additional consideration. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase 
warrant exercisable into a share at $0.25 per share for a period of two years following the date a 
final receipt is issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission for the Company’s 
prospectus. 

 
Escrow Shares 

As at February 29, 2012, the Company has 1,300,001 shares held in escrow with the following 
release dates and amounts: 

  
Number of 

shares 
   On listing date with Canadian exchange  130,000 
6 months after listing date  195,000 
12 months after listing date  195,000 
18 months after listing date  195,000 
24 months after listing date  195,000 
30 months after listing date  195,000 
36 months after listing date  195,001 
     1,300,001 

 
 
5. Loss Per Share 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period is net of contingently returnable shares. 

The following table details the weighted average number of common shares outstanding: 

  
2012 

$ 
  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  1,300,001  
  

Less: Weighted average number of contingently returnable shares  (1,300,001) 
  
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic and diluted – 

 
 
6. Related Party Transactions 

During the period ended February 29, 2012, the Company incurred management fees of $46,000 to 
the former President and Director of the Company who resigned on February 9, 2012. As at February 
29, 2012, the former President and Director of the Company assigned the amount owing of $20,000 
to a company controlled by a director of the Company.  The amount owing is unsecured, non-interest 
bearing, and due on demand. 

 
 
7. Capital Management 

The Company currently manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on cash 
resources expected to be available to the Company, in order to support the planned exploration of 
mineral property interests. Management has not established a quantitative capital structure, but 
reviews on a regular basis the capital requirements of the Company relative to the stage of 
development of the business entity and mineral property interest and market conditions. 
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7. Capital Management (continued) 

The Company currently is dependent on externally provided equity financing to fund its exploration 
activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and fund administrative costs, the Company will 
concentrate its capital plans to raise additional amounts as needed through equity financing. 
Management reviews the capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach is reasonable given the current state of financial markets and the exploration industry. In 
the case of uncertainty over the ability to raise funds in current or future economic conditions, the 
Company would manage capital by minimizing ongoing expenses. The Company is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
 
8. Financial Instruments and Risk Management 

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument and related risks.  
Those risks and management’s approach to mitigating those risks are as follows: 

(a) Fair Values 

The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and 
likelihood of this exposure. These risks include liquidity risk, credit risk, price risk, currency risk 
and interest rate risk. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of 
Directors. 

 Fair Value Measurements Using  

 

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

identical 
instruments 

(Level 1) 
$ 

Significant other 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

$ 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

$ 

 
Balance, 

February 29, 
2012 

$ 

 
Cash 228,652 – – 228,652 

The fair values of other financial instruments, which include amounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these instruments.  

(b) Credit Risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is in its cash 
and receivables. Cash is held with major banks in Canada, which are high credit quality financial 
institutions as determined by rating agencies. The Company’s receivables comprise amounts due 
from government agencies. 

(c) Currency Risk 

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. There is low foreign exchange risk to 
the Company as the Company primarily operates within Canada.   

(d) Interest Rate Risk  

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
balances at variable rates and its short-term term deposits at prescribed market rates. The fair 
value of the Company’s cash is not significantly affected by changes in short- term interest rates. 
The income earned from the bank accounts and short-term term deposits is subject to 
movements in interest rates.  
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8. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued) 

(e) Liquidity and Funding Risk  

Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due 
at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient 
readily available capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. Management maintains 
sufficient cash to satisfy short-term liabilities in highly liquid investments.  

Funding risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital 
through equity markets under acceptable terms and conditions, once the Company completes its 
IPO.  

(f) Price risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company’s ability to 
raise capital to fund exploration and development activities is subject to risks associated with 
fluctuations in the market price of commodities. 

 
 
9. Income Taxes 

As of February 29, 2012, the Company has a non-capital loss carried forward of $63,760 available to 
reduce income otherwise taxable in future years, which expires in 2032.  

The reconciliation of income tax benefit computed at statutory rates to the reported income tax benefit 
is as follows: 

  
2012 

$ 
   Net loss before taxes  (63,760) 
Statutory rate  26.25% 

   Expected tax recovery  (16,737) 
   Tax effect of:   

   Permanent differences and other  6,825 
Change in enacted tax rates  472 
Change in valuation allowance  9,440 

   Income tax provision  – 

 
The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities, after applying enacted 
corporate income tax rates, are as follows: 

  
2012 

$ 
   Non-capital loss carried forward  9,440 
Valuation allowance  (9,440) 
   Net deferred tax asset  – 

 
 
10. Subsequent Events 

The Company is proposing to file a non-offering prospectus to qualify the distribution of 3,225,318 
units which were previously issued Series “A” special warrants, as noted in Notes 4(c) through 4(g).  
The Company is not expected to receive any net proceeds from the issuance.  
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 May 31,  
2012 

February 29,  
2012 

 $ $ 

 (unaudited)  
ASSETS   
   
Current Assets   
   

Cash  228,608 228,652 

Amounts receivable 1,917 1,707 

Prepaid expenses – 5,600 

   
Total current assets 230,525 235,959 

   
Non-current assets   
   

Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 3) 17,450 17,450 

   
Total assets 247,975 253,409 

   
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
   
Current liabilities   
   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 4) 51,424 32,648 

   
Total liabilities 51,424 32,648 

   

Shareholders’ equity   
   

Share capital 32,501 32,501 

Share subscriptions received 252,020 252,020 

Deficit (87,970) (63,760) 

   
Total shareholders’ equity 196,551 220,761 

   
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 247,975 253,409 

 
Nature of business and continuance of operations (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 8) 
 
 
 
 

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board on October 10, 2012: 

/s/ “James Glass”  /s/ “Craig Rademaker” 

    
James Glass, Director  Craig Rademaker, Director 
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(unaudited) 
 
 

 

Three Months 
Ended 

May 31,  
2012 

 
May 31, 2011 

(date of 
incorporation) 

 $ $ 

   

Revenue – – 

   

Operating Expenses   

Office and general 44 – 

Professional fees 22,666 – 

Rent 1,500 – 

   
Total expenses  24,210 – 

   
Net loss and comprehensive loss (24,210) – 

   

Net loss per share, basic and diluted – – 

   

Weighted average shares outstanding – – 

 
 



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC.  
Statements of Changes in Equity 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(unaudited) 
 
 

  Share  Total 
 Share Capital Subscriptions  Shareholders’ 

 Shares Amount Received Deficit Equity 
  $ $ $ $ 

      
Balance, May 31, 2011 (date of 
incorporation) – – – – – 

 
 

  Share  Total 
 Share Capital Subscriptions  Shareholders’ 

 Shares Amount Received Deficit Equity 
  $ $ $ $ 

      
Balance, February 29, 2012 1,300,001 32,501 252,020 (63,760) 220,761 
      

Net loss for the period – – – (24,210) (24,210) 

      
Balance, May 31, 2012 1,300,001 32,501 252,020 (87,970) 196,551 
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FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. 
Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(unaudited) 
 
 
 Three Months 

Ended 
May 31,  

2012 

 
May 31, 2011 

(date of 
incorporation) 

 $ $ 

   

Cash provided by (used in):   
   
Operating activities   
   
Net loss for the period (24,210) – 

   
Changes in non-cash operating accounts:   

Amounts receivable (210) – 

Prepaid expenses 5,600 – 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18,776 – 

   
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (44) – 

   
Change in Cash  (44) – 
   
Cash, beginning of period 228,652 – 

   
Cash, end of period 228,608 – 

   

Supplemental Disclosures   
   

Interest paid – – 

Income taxes paid – – 
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1. Nature of Business and Continuance of Operations 

Fortify Resources Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on May 31, 2011, under the British 
Columbia Business Corporations Act. The Company is engaged in the acquisition and exploration of 
mineral properties in Canada. To maintain exploration programs, mineral property interests and 
develop future projects beyond the exploration stage, the Company will need funding.   

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of a going concern, which contemplates 
the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business. As at May 31, 
2012, the Company has not generated any revenues and has an accumulated deficit of $87,970. The 
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to raise additional 
working capital when needed, and generate profitable operations from its operations. Although 
management estimates that the Company has sufficient working capital to meet anticipated 
expenditures for at least the ensuing year, there is no certainty that the Company’s current or future 
exploration projects will generate operating revenue or that the management can obtain the 
necessary financing at rates and terms that are suitable for the Company.  These factors may cast 
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to the recorded assets or liabilities that might be 
necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

The Company’s head office is located at Suite 1210, 1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, Canada, V6E 3X1. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Statement of Compliance 

These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, “Interim 
Financial Reporting of the International Financial Reporting Standards.  

(b) Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are presented in 
Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.  

(c) Use of Estimates and Judgments 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the period. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the processing of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  The impacts of such estimates and judgements are 
pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on 
future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates and judgements are recognized in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions include the estimation of the tax basis of assets 
and liabilities and related deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and recognition of a provision 
for environmental rehabilitation including the estimation of the rehabilitation costs, timing of 
expenditures, impact of changes in discount rates, and changes in environmental and regulatory 
requirements.  Significant judgements made by management include the future economic benefit 
of exploration and evaluation costs including factors used in determining the potential impairment 
of exploration and evaluation costs.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on deposit with banks and highly liquid short-term 
interest bearing investments with a term to maturity at the date of purchase of 90 days or less 
from the date of acquisition.  

(e) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures include the costs of acquiring licenses, costs associated 
with exploration and evaluation activity, and the fair value (at acquisition date) of exploration and 
evaluation assets acquired in a business combination. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
are capitalized. Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an 
area are charged to operations. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to 
determine technical feasibility and commercial viability, and (ii) facts and circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an 
area of interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of 
interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified to mining property and development 
assets within property, plant and equipment.  

Recoverability of the carrying amount of any exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas 
of interest. 

Mineral Property Options 

The Company does not record any expenditures made by the optionee in its accounts. It also 
does not recognize any gain or loss on its exploration and evaluation option arrangements but re-
designates any costs previously capitalized in relation to the whole interest as relating to the 
partial interest retained and any consideration received directly from the optionee is credited 
against costs previously capitalized. 

(f) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

At each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there are indicators of impairment for 
its non-financial assets, including mineral properties and property and equipment. If indicators 
exist, the Company determines if the recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit 
(“CGU”) is greater than its carrying amount. A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of 
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or groups of assets. The Company has used geographical proximity, geological 
similarities, analysis of shared infrastructure, commodity type, assessment of exposure to market 
risks and materiality to define its CGUs. 

If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is recorded at its 
recoverable amount with the reduction recognized in profit or loss. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the value in use or fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is the amount the asset could 
be sold for in an arm’s length transaction. The value in use is the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset from its continued use. The fair value less costs to sell considers 
the continued development of a property and market transactions in a valuation model.  

Impairments are reversed in subsequent periods when there has been an increase in the 
recoverable amount of a previously impaired asset or CGU and these reversals are recognized in 
profit or loss. The recovery is limited to the original carrying amount less depreciation, if any, that 
would have been recorded had the asset not been impaired. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(g) Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Provisions 

The Company recognizes a provision for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations 
associated with decommissioning of mining operations and reclamation and rehabilitation costs 
arising when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration or development of mineral 
properties, plant and equipment. Provisions for site closure and reclamation are recognized in the 
period in which the obligation is incurred or acquired, and are measured based on expected 
future cash flows to settle the obligation, discounted to their present value. The discount rate 
used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability including risks specific to the countries in which the related 
operation is located. 

When an obligation is initially recognized, the corresponding cost is capitalized to the carrying 
amount of the related asset in mineral properties, plant and equipment. These costs are 
depreciated using either the unit of production or straight line method depending on the asset to 
which the obligation relates. 

The obligation is increased for the accretion and the corresponding amount is recognized as a 
finance expense. The obligation is also adjusted for changes in the estimated timing, amount of 
expected future cash flows, and changes in the discount rate. Such changes in estimates are 
added to or deducted from the related asset except where deductions are greater than the 
carrying value of the related asset in which case, the amount of the excess is recognized in the 
statements of comprehensive income/loss. 

Due to uncertainties concerning environmental remediation, the ultimate cost to the Company of 
future site restoration could differ from the amounts provided. The estimate of the total provision 
for future site closure and reclamation costs is subject to change based on amendments to laws 
and regulations, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates, and as 
new information concerning the Company’s closure and reclamation obligations becomes 
available. 

The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs to date. 

(h) Loss Per Share 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares 
of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant 
period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to 
common shares by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and 
outstanding and all additional common shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially 
dilutive instruments were converted. Potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the 
calculation of dilutive loss per share as they are anti-dilutive. The diluted loss per common share 
is equal to the basic loss per share for the period ended May 31, 2012 and 2011, as the effects of 
the conversion of warrants are anti-dilutive. 

(i) Income Tax 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized 
directly in equity or in the other comprehensive loss. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on 
taxable income or loss for the current year and any adjustments to income tax payable in respect 
of previous years. Current income taxes are determined using tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(i) Income Tax (continued) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amounts of an asset or 
liability differs from its tax base, except for the taxable temporary differences arising on the initial 
recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.   

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period, 
the Company re-assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a 
previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

(j) Financial Instruments 

The Company does not have any derivative financial instruments.  

Non-derivative financial assets 

The Company classifies financial assets as either financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, available-for-sale, or loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of financial 
assets at initial recognition. 

Assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-
for-trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition, and are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value and transaction costs recognized in profit or loss when incurred. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or are not classified in any other financial asset category. They are measured at fair value and 
changes in fair value other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences are 
recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. When an investment is derecognized, the 
cumulative gain or loss in the investment revaluation reserve is transferred to profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

The Company classifies its cash as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 
amounts receivable as loans and receivable.  The Company did not have any financial assets 
classified as available-for-sale. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Company classified financial liabilities as other liabilities. Such financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other liabilities. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(k) Financial Instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  
Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash 
flows of the assets have been impacted. Factors that could indicate impairment of financial assets 
include significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in payment, bankruptcy, or financial 
reorganization. 

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases in subsequent periods and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount does not exceed what the 
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 

The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities 
and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement. At the date of issue, 
the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for 
similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost 
basis until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity 
component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the face value 
of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognized and included in equity, net of income 
tax effects, and is not subsequently re-measured. 

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial 
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that has occurred after initial recognition of the asset and that event 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets. 

(l) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective 

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are effective for 
the period ended February 29, 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these financial 
statements. 

(i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012: 

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” 

In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 to require companies to group together 
items within other comprehensive income (“OCI”) that may be reclassified to the statement of 
income. The amendments also reaffirm existing requirements that items in OCI and profit or 
loss should be presented as either a single statement or two separate statements. The 
amendments are to be applied retrospectively. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(l) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective (continued) 

(ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013: 

New standard IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” 

Partial replacement of IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 
9 introduces new requirements for how an entity should classify and measure financial assets 
that are in the scope of IAS 39. The standard requires all financial assets to be classified on 
the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets, and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. A financial asset is measured at amortized 
cost if two criteria are met: (a) the objective of the business model is to hold the financial 
asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows, and (b) the contractual cash flows under 
the instrument solely represent payments of principal and interest. If a financial asset meets 
the criteria to be measured at amortized cost, it can be designated at fair value through profit 
or loss under the fair value option, if doing so would significantly reduce or eliminate an 
accounting mismatch. If a financial asset does not meet the business model and contractual 
terms criteria to be measured at amortized cost, then it is subsequently measured at fair 
value. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to accounting for 
financial liabilities. Under the new requirements, an entity choosing to measure a financial 
liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in 
the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or loss. 

New Standard IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 to replace portions of IAS 27, “Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements” and interpretation SIC-12, “Consolidated - Special Purpose 
Entities”. IFRS 10 incorporates a single model for consolidating all entities that are controlled 
and revises the definition of control to be "An investor controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
current ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee”. Along with control, 
the new standard also focuses on the concept of power, both of which will include a use of 
judgement and a continuous reassessment as facts and circumstances change. 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 to replace IAS 31, “Interest in Joint Ventures”. The 
new standard will apply to the accounting for interest in joint arrangements where there is 
joint control. Joint arrangements will be separated into joint ventures and joint operations. 
The structure of the joint arrangement will no longer be the most significant factor on 
classifying a joint arrangement as either a joint operation or a joint venture. Proportionate 
consolidations will be removed and replaced with equity accounting.  

New standard IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12. The new standard includes disclosure requirements 
about subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, as well as unconsolidated structured 
entities and replaces existing disclosure requirements.  

New standard IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement” 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 3.  The new standard converges IFRS and US GAAP on 
how to measure fair value and the related fair value disclosures. The new standard creates a 
single source of guidance for fair value measurements, where fair value is required or 
permitted under IFRS, by not changing how fair value is used but how it is measured. The 
focus will be on an exit price. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(l) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective (continued) 

(iii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015:  

New standard IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” 

Partial replacement of IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 
9 introduces new requirements for how an entity should classify and measure financial assets 
that are in the scope of IAS 39. The standard requires all financial assets to be classified on 
the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets, and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. A financial asset is measured at amortized 
cost if two criteria are met: (a) the objective of the business model is to hold the financial 
asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows, and (b) the contractual cash flows under 
the instrument solely represent payments of principal and interest. If a financial asset meets 
the criteria to be measured at amortized cost, it can be designated at fair value through profit 
or loss under the fair value option, if doing so would significantly reduce or eliminate an 
accounting mismatch. If a financial asset does not meet the business model and contractual 
terms criteria to be measured at amortized cost, then it is subsequently measured at fair 
value. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to accounting for 
financial liabilities. Under the new requirements, an entity choosing to measure a financial 
liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in 
the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or loss. 

The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is currently assessing the 
impact that these standards will have on the financial statements. 

Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been 
issued but have future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.   

 
 
3. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

  
Sericite East 

Property 
  $ 

   
Balance, May 31, 2011  – 

Acquisition costs  6,822 

Exploration costs  10,628 

   
Balance, February 29, 2012 and May 31, 2012  17,450 

During the period ended February 29, 2012, the Company purchased a 100% interest in the Sericite 
East Property located in British Columbia, Canada, consisting of two mineral claims, for consideration 
for $6,822. 

 
 
4. Related Party Transactions 

As at May 31, 2012, the Company is indebted to a company controlled by a director of the Company 
for $20,000 (February 29, 2012 - $20,000). The amount is included in accounts payable and is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. 
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5. Capital Management 

The Company currently manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on cash 
resources expected to be available to the Company, in order to support the planned exploration of 
mineral property interests. Management has not established a quantitative capital structure, but 
reviews on a regular basis the capital requirements of the Company relative to the stage of 
development of the business entity and mineral property interest and market conditions. 

The Company currently is dependent on externally provided equity financing to fund its exploration 
activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and fund administrative costs, the Company will 
concentrate its capital plans to raise additional amounts as needed through equity financing. 
Management reviews the capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach is reasonable given the current state of financial markets and the exploration industry. In 
the case of uncertainty over the ability to raise funds in current or future economic conditions, the 
Company would manage capital by minimizing ongoing expenses. The Company is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
 
6. Share Capital 

Authorized - unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding:  1,300,001 common shares 

 During the period ended May 31, 2012, the Company did not have any share capital transactions. 

Escrow Shares 

As at February 29, 2012, the Company has 1,300,001 shares held in escrow with the following 
release dates and amounts: 

  
Number of 

shares 

   On listing date with Canadian exchange  130,000 
6 months after listing date  195,000 
12 months after listing date  195,000 
18 months after listing date  195,000 
24 months after listing date  195,000 
30 months after listing date  195,000 
36 months after listing date  195,001 

     1,300,001 

 
 
7. Loss Per Share  

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period is net of contingently returnable shares. 

The following table details the weighted average number of common shares outstanding: 

 

May 31, 
2012 

$ 

February 29,  
2012 

$ 

   
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 1,300,001  1,300,001  

   
Less: Weighted average number of contingently returnable shares (1,300,001) (1,300,001) 

   
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic 
and diluted – – 
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7. Financial Instruments and Risk Management 

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument and related risks.  
Those risks and management’s approach to mitigating those risks are as follows: 

(a) Fair Values 

The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and 
likelihood of this exposure. These risks include liquidity risk, credit risk, price risk, currency risk 
and interest rate risk. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of 
Directors. 

 Fair Value Measurements Using  

 

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

identical 
instruments 

(Level 1) 
$ 

Significant other 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

$ 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

$ 

 
Balance, 
May 31,  

2012 
$ 

     
Cash 228,608 – – 228,608 

The fair values of other financial instruments, which include amounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these instruments.  

(b) Credit Risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is in its cash 
and receivables. Cash is held with major banks in Canada, which are high credit quality financial 
institutions as determined by rating agencies. The Company’s receivables comprise amounts due 
from government agencies. 

(c) Currency Risk  

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is low foreign exchange risk to 
the Company as the Company primarily operates within Canada.   

(d) Interest Rate Risk  

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
balances at variable rates and its short-term term deposits at prescribed market rates. The fair 
value of the Company’s cash is not significantly affected by changes in short- term interest rates. 
The income earned from the bank accounts and short-term term deposits is subject to 
movements in interest rates.  

(e) Liquidity and Funding Risk  

Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due 
at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient 
readily available capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. Management maintains 
sufficient cash to satisfy short-term liabilities in highly liquid investments.  

Funding risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital 
through equity markets under acceptable terms and conditions, once the Company completes its 
IPO.  
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7. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued) 

(f) Price risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company’s ability to 
raise capital to fund exploration and development activities is subject to risks associated with 
fluctuations in the market price of commodities. 

 
 
8. Subsequent Events 

The Company is proposing to file a non-offering prospectus to qualify the distribution of 3,225,318 
units which were previously issued as Series “A” special warrants.  The Company is not expected to 
receive any net proceeds from the issuance.  
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We have read the prospectus of Fortify Resources Inc. (the “Company”) dated October 10, 2012 relating to the issue 
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auditors’ involvement with offering documents. 
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February 29, 2012. 
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Item 14.1 Capitalization 

 

The following table sets out certain information regarding the share capitalization of the Issuer. The Issuer has one 

class of security:  Common Shares. 

Issued Capital Number of 

Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 

Securities 

(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 

(non-

diluted) 

% of Issued 

(fully diluted) 

Public Float 

 

    

Total outstanding (A)  4,525,319 7,750,637 100% 100% 

     

Held by Related Persons
1
 (B) 1,300,001 1,300,001 28.7% 16.8% 

     

Total Public Float (A-B) 3,225,318 6,450,636 71.3% 83.2% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float 

 

    

Number of restricted shares
2
 (C)  1,300,001 

(subject to Form 

46-201F1 Escrow 

Agreement) 

1,300,001 

(subject to Form 

46-201F1 Escrow 

Agreement) 

28.7%% 16.8% 

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 3,225,318 6,450,636 71.3% 83.2% 

1.  Related Persons or employees of the Issuer, or persons or companies who beneficially own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer (or who would beneficially own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of other securities held). 

2.  Number of outstanding securities subject to resale restrictions, including restrictions imposed by pooling or other 

arrangements or in a shareholder agreement and securities held by control block holders. 

 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, “public securityholders” are persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of 

the previous chart: 

 

Common Shares 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 shares     

100 – 499 shares     

500 – 999 shares     

1,000 – 1,999 shares     

2,000 – 2,999 shares     

3,000 – 3,999 shares     

4,000 – 4,999 shares     



5,000 or more shares  12  3,225,318 

  Totals  12  3,225,318 

 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

The following table pertains to (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; 

and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has been given written 

confirmation of shareholdings.   

 

Common Shares
1
 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 shares  2  106 

100 – 499 shares     

500 – 999 shares  2  1,512 

1,000 – 1,999 shares  114  135,801 

2,000 – 2,999 shares  19  43,072 

3,000 – 3,999 shares     

4,000 – 4,999 shares     

5,000 or more shares  40  3,044,827 

Unable to confirm     

Totals  177  3,225,318 

(1) The following data is further to the distribution of Fortify Shares to HLD unitholders as at October 30, 2012.  The HLD 

unitholder numbers, which includes 166 holders, were derived from a Broadridge Report as at August 30, 2012.  Since 

the report date, there have been 3 trades in HLD units totaling 91,000 units (equivalent to 10,350 Fortify Shares). 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, “non-public securityholders”, as enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital 

chart. 

 

Common Shares 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 shares     

100 – 499 shares     

500 – 999 shares     

1,000 – 1,999 shares     



2,000 – 2,999 shares     

3,000 – 3,999 shares     

4,000 – 4,999 shares     

5,000 or more  shares  2  1,300,001 

  Totals  2  1,300,001 

 

Item 14.2  The following table outlines all outstanding securities convertible or exchangeable into common 

shares of the Issuer: 

 

 

 

Description of Security  

Number of convertible / 

exchangeable securities 

outstanding 

Number of listed securities issuable upon 

conversion / exercise 

Common Share Purchase Warrants 400,000 400,000 common shares 

296,000 296,000 common shares 

296,000 296,000 common shares 

1,191,651 1,191,651 common shares 

1,041,667 1,041,667 common shares 

(1) Exercisable at $0.15 per share and effective/exercisable for two years commencing the closing date of the prospectus offering. 
(2) Exercisable at $0.25 per share and effective/exercisable for two years commencing the closing date of the prospectus offering. 
 

 

Item 14.3  At the date of this report, there are no other common shares reserved for issuance that are not 

included in section 14.2 above.   Upon completion of the Company’s prospectus offering, the 

following common shares will be reserved for issuance: 

 

Description of Security  

Number of convertible / 

exchangeable securities 

outstanding 

Number of listed securities issuable upon 

conversion / exercise 

Common Share Purchase 

Warrants 

400,0001 400,000 common shares 

296,0001 296,000 common shares 

296,0001 296,000 common shares 

1,191,6511 1,191,651 common shares 

1,041,6672 1,041,667 common shares 

(1) Exercisable at $0.15 per share and effective/exercisable for two years commencing the closing date of the prospectus offering. 

(2) Exercisable at $0.25 per share and effective/exercisable for two years commencing the closing date of the prospectus offering. 



CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER AND PROMOTER 

 

 

 

Pursuant to a resolution passed by its board of directors, FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. applies for the 

listing of the above mentioned securities on CNSX. The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure 

of all material information relating to FORTIFY RESOURCES INC. It contains no untrue statement of 

a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 

prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it 

was made. 
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